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MINUTES 
 

PLANNING AND ZONING COMMISSION MEETING 
 

COLUMBIA CITY HALL COUNCIL CHAMBERS 
 

701 EAST BROADWAY, COLUMBIA, MO 
 

JANUARY 18, 2024 
 
 
COMMISSIONERS PRESENT COMMISSIONERS ABSENT 
 
Ms. Sharon Geuea Jones Ms. Valerie Carroll 
Ms. Sarah Loe Mr. Anthony Stanton 
Mr. Michael MacMann 
Ms. Peggy Placier 
Ms. Shannon Wilson 
Mr. Zack Dunn 
Mr. Matt Ford 
 
STAFF PRESENT 
 
Mr. Pat Zenner 
Mr. Rusty Palmer 
Ms. Rebecca Thompson 
 

I. CALL TO ORDER 

 MS. GEUEA JONES:  I will now call the Planning and Zoning Commission meeting of Thursday, 

January 18th to order. 

II. INTRODUCTIONS 

 MS. GEUEA JONES:  Commissioner Loe, may we have a roll call. 

 MS. LOE:  Yes.  Commissioner MacMann? 

 MR. MACMANN:  Present. 

 MS. LOE:  Commissioner Carroll?  Commissioner Geuea Jones? 

 MS. GEUEA JONES:  Here. 

 MS. LOE:  Commissioner Placier?  

 MS. PLACIER:  Here. 

 MS. LOE:  Commissioner Ford? 

 MR. FORD:  Here.   

 MS. LOE:  Commissioner Wilson? 

 MS. WILSON:  Here. 

 MS. LOE:  I am here.  Commissioner Stanton?  Commissioner Dunn? 

 MR. DUNN:  Here.   

 MS. LOE:  We have seven; we have a quorum. 
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 MS. GEUEA JONES:  Thank you.  We will now stand at ease until staff is ready to start.   

 MR. ZENNER:  I'm ready.  Go ahead. 

 MS. GEUEA JONES:  Okay.  We are ready.  Excellent.   

III. APPROVAL OF AGENDA.  

 MS. GEUEA JONES:  Mr. Zenner, are there any changes to the agenda? 

 MR. ZENNER:  No, there are not, ma'am. 

 MS. GEUEA JONES:  Is there a motion to approve the agenda? 

 MR. MACMANN:  Move to approve. 

 MS. LOE:  Second. 

 MS. GEUEA JONES:  Moved by Commissioner MacMann, seconded by Commissioner Loe.  

Thumbs up approval, please, on the agenda?   

(Unanimous vote for approval of minutes.) 

 MS. GEUEA JONES:  Unanimous.  Thank you. 

IV. APPROVAL OF MINUTES 

 MS. GEUEA JONES:  We have all received a copy of the January 4th, 2024 regular meeting 

minutes.  Is there any changes or adjustments to the minutes?   

 MR. MACMANN:  Move to approve.] 

 MS. LOE:  Second. 

 MS. GEUEA JONES:  Moved by Commissioner MacMann, seconded by Commissioner Loe.  

Thumbs up approval on the minutes?   

(Six votes for approval of minutes; one abstention) 

MS. GEUEA JONES:  We are unanimous with Commissioner MacMann abstaining.   

V. TABLING REQUESTS 

 MS. GEUEA JONES:  Our first item of business of the evening is a tabling request. 

Case Number 31-2024 

 A request by Crockett Engineering (agent) on behalf of TKG Storage Mart Partners 

Portfolio, LLC (owners), for a Conditional Use Permit (CUP) to allow a self-service storage facility 

over 14 feet in height, located at 3412 I-70 Drive SE.  (This request was tabled at the December 21, 

2023 Planning Commission meeting.  The applicant seeks to table this matter to the March 7, 

2024 Planning Commission meeting.)   

 MS. GEUEA JONES:  May we have a staff report? 

 MR. ZENNER:  Yes.  As indicated, this item was previously tabled to tonight's date.  The 

applicant is still working with their client in order to resolve several technical questions that we have 

asked in relationship to this proposal.  And in order to address those issues fully and ensure that we are 

not coming back for a third tabling request, they have asked that this be tabled until March 7th of this 

year.  We are supportive of that.  The issues at hand really are dealing with very technical design-
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related matters, and that is what is taking the extended time to be able to address our needs.  So with 

that, that is all we have to offer as it relates to this particular case.   

 MS. GEUEA JONES:  Excellent.  Are there any questions about this tabling request for staff?  

Seeing none.  I'm sorry.  Did you say this was advertised at all? 

 MR. ZENNER:  It was a tabled to date -- 

MS. GEUEA JONES:  Okay. 

MR. ZENNER:  -- so if there are individuals within the audience that came this evening 

understanding that it was tabled to tonight, they would -- should be offered an opportunity to approach.  

We do not have a staff report prepared for this meeting based on the necessary revision, so discussion 

would be limited more toward the tabling. 

 MS. GEUEA JONES:  Certainly.  Is there anyone here that came this evening to speak on this 

case?  If so, we would take your comments now.  We are only dealing with the tabling, though, not the 

merits of this particular action.  Seeing none.  Excellent.  Are there any Commissioner comments on the 

tabling motion?  Commissioner MacMann? 

 MR. MACMANN:  I have a motion. 

 MS. GEUEA JONES:  Please. 

 MR. MACMANN:  In the matter of Case 31-2023 [sic], a CUP for Storage Mart, I move to table to 

date certain 7 March 2024. 

 MS. GEUEA JONES:  Is there a second? 

 MS. LOE:  Second. 

 MS. GEUEA JONES:  A motion was made to table Case Number 31-2024 by Commissioner 

MacMann, seconded by Commissioner Loe.  Is there any discussion on the motion?  Seeing none.  

Commissioner Loe, when you're ready? 

 MS. LOE:  Yes, Madam Chair.   

 Roll Call Vote (Voting "yes" is to recommend approval.)  Voting Yes:  Mr. MacMann,  

Ms. Geuea Jones, Ms. Placier, Mr. Ford, Ms. Wilson, Ms. Loe, Mr. Dunn.  Motion carries 8-0. 

 MS. LOE:  Thank you.  Seven votes for.  The motion is approved. 

 MS. GEUEA JONES:  Thank you.  That case will be tabled to date certain March 7th, 2024.   

VI. PUBLIC HEARINGS AND SUBDIVISIONS 

 MS. GEUEA JONES:  Our first public hearing case of the evening. 

Case Number 21-2024 

 A request by A Civil Group (agent), on behalf of Kay and Jack Wax (owners), for approval 

of an eight-lot Preliminary Plat of R-1 (One-Family Dwelling) zoned property, to be known as 

Russell Subdivision Phase 7 and design adjustments from Appendix A, A.1(c)(1)(ii)(B) and Sec. 

29-5.l(d) of the UDC pertaining to required right of way width and sidewalk installation, 

respectively.  The 3.2-acre subject site is located northwest of the intersection of Russell 
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Boulevard and Rollins Road and includes the address 709 Russell Boulevard.  (This matter was 

originally presented at the Planning Commission's December 21, 2023 meeting and tabled by the 

applicant.) 

 MS. GEUEA JONES:  May we please have a staff report? 

 Staff report was given by Mr. Pat Zenner of the Planning and Development Department.  Staff 

recommends: 

 Approval of the proposed design adjustments to Appendix A, A.1(c)(1)(ii)(B) and Section 29-

5.1(d);   

 Approval of the proposed preliminary plat to be known as "Russell Subdivision Phase 7" 

subject to minor technical corrections.    

 MS. GEUEA JONES:  Thank you.  Before we go to questions for staff, if any of my fellow 

Commissioners have had outside conversations with parties to this case, please disclose so now.  

Seeing none.  Any questions for staff?  Commissioner MacMann? 

 MR. MACMANN:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  Twenty-foot-wide street, do we know if there's 

going to be parking on this street? 

 MR. ZENNER:  There would -- it's -- it is possible, but these are private individual residential lots 

that will probably have sufficient capacity to be onsite.  Obviously, if you have guests, that always 

presents a problem. 

 MR. MACMANN:  I'm thinking about the fire engine going down there. 

 MR. ZENNER:  Yeah.  So if there -- I mean, that does create an issue.  There are options that 

the fire department has.  They could post it as fire lane, no parking.  There is no -- there would be no 

curb and gutter on this because it is driveway, so typically we would paint the curb line as a fire lane.  

The fire department has not indicated any of -- anything to the concern of the width, and I'm fairly 

confident they also think the same thing. 

 MR. MACMANN:  It's within 150 feet.   

 MR. ZENNER:  Yeah. 

 MR. MACMANN:  It's the second -- if we approve this, this will be the second one.  I just don't 

want us to be creating a problem in the future, like with lawyers and lawsuits and things of that nature. 

 MR. ZENNER:  Completely understand, Mr. -- 

 MR. MACMANN:  All right.  Thank you. 

 MS. GEUEA JONES:  Any other questions for staff?  Seeing none.  I will open the floor to 

public comment. 

PUBLIC HEARING OPENED 

 MS. GEUEA JONES:  Please come forward, state your name and address for the record.  Six 

minutes if you are with a group, three minutes for an individual. 

 MR. GEBHARDT:  Six minutes, please. 
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 MS. GEUEA JONES:  All right. 

 MR. GEBHARDT:  No.  My name is Jay Gebhardt; land surveyor and a civil engineer with A 

Civil Group.  And these are the same slides that I had last time.  It just goes over this, but this is kind of 

a color rendering of -- of the project.  We really don't have anything new that we didn't present last time 

other than we did change, as you guys had indicated, that the street doesn't go through.  I worked with 

the fire marshal, Mike Bauer, and the turnaround that's -- that's shown is compliant with the Appendix D of 

the fire code.  He did mention -- or we mentioned that the, you know, parking, is that going to be an 

issue?  Does it need to be marked as a fire lane?  And he said he doesn't want to do that up front, but 

he always reserves the right to do that later if it becomes an issue.  As far as the rest of this, I think Pat 

did an excellent job of explaining everything.  And if you guys have any questions for me, I think it would 

probably be our best use of time for me to answer questions. 

 MS. GEUEA JONES:  Thank you.  Any questions for Mr. Gebhardt?  Seeing none.  On behalf 

of the Commission, thank you for taking our input seriously.   

 MR. GEBHARDT:  Thank you.   

 MS. GEUEA JONES:  Anyone else to speak on this case?   

 MS. GRIFFIN:  My name is Anne Griffin; I live at 1815 Rollins Road, so it's directly to the west of 

the proposed property.  My concern is actually rather timely because it involves sidewalk maintenance.  

And since there was a recent snow, looking at this new plan, the three houses that border Russell and 

Rollins, none of them have frontage that is going to be facing that area.  And that area of sidewalk, which 

we've spoke at -- we spoke about several times is really heavily traveled.  I know that this recent snow 

was an anomaly and that it was probably a little bit cold to get out there and shovel it, but it did not get 

shoveled, and then school was going on.  So looking at this, I was, like, well, whose responsibility for this 

would-be shoveling, because that's one that's over to the left -- I'm sorry, the numbers are really small, so 

I can't see the numbers -- it doesn't even have -- it wouldn't even have, like, garage access.  You know, 

like, if you were walking out with a shovel, you'd have to, like, walk through your yard to get to the 

sidewalk.  So that's my main concern is that the -- because I live next door, there's just debris and 

wrappers and stuff in my yard, I would say, a couple of times a week I find just random stuff.  And so I'm 

just wondering with that area, that boulevard, I guess, between the property line and the -- or in between 

the sidewalk and the street, who is going to be responsible for moving, maintaining, cleaning, shoveling 

that area?   

 MS. GEUEA JONES:  Thank you.  

 MR. ZENNER:  So the way that the City's code is set up, the property owner adjoining -- if you 

have a backyard -- I actually my prior home before the one I own today, had a backyard that backed up to 

a public street.  It had a sidewalk and had a green strip.  We are responsible -- we were responsible, as 

the adjoining property owner, to clean that sidewalk and to mow that grass strip.  My son was contacted 

by our Offices of Neighborhood Services and asked when are you going to mow the strip?  So we're out 
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there ensuring that, and the sidewalk snow removal is always one of those more elusive tasks.  You 

know, people hate going out and shoveling snow, especially when it's cold.  I will have to leave this to the 

applicant, and how the applicant basically will be working with their future purchasers to convey that, but 

the City standards are very clear.  The adjacent property owners are responsible for that public sidewalk 

to keep it cleared, and they are responsible for all of the property even if it is in the public road right-of-

way between the sidewalk and their property line or their fence.  So that would be how this would be 

being resolved.  The Office of Neighborhood Services is who you would call to lodge a complaint that 

that is not being addressed.  And given that this is a school location, the unfortunate nature of it is I live 

directly across from Fairview Elementary School.  I get wrappers and trash in my lawn all the time.  

Children are notorious for just dropping their gum wrapper or their chocolate bar and walking away.  One 

would hope that the property owners will take pride in their property and want to keep that area cleared. 

 MS. GRIFFIN:  Okay.  So it would be those three that actually have bordered -- 

 MR. ZENNER:  It actually will be four lots in total, so it will be the two on Russell -- or the two on 

Rollins and then the corner lot, which has Rollins and Russell, and then the two to the north, so there are 

four total lots.  709 is responsible for the sidewalk in front of the existing home, and then the lot owner to 

the north of the private driveway would be responsible for that frontage along Russell Boulevard.  Today, 

technically, the owner of the property, Ms. Wax, who is living in 709, is responsible for all of her frontage, 

and that would be everything from the very northern portion of this development all the way to the western 

portion to your property. 

 MS. GEUEA JONES:  Thank you.  And I would just add that I know that Ms. Wax has been in 

some contact with the neighborhood.  You might get her number, too, so you can -- yeah. 

 MS. GRIFFIN:  Yeah.  She has my number. 

 MS. GEUEA JONES:  Yeah. 

 MS. GRIFFIN:  And that was another thing that I wanted to talk about because so many people 

that live in our neighborhood spoke at the last meeting -- 

 MS. GEUEA JONES:  Uh-huh.  Yeah. 

 MS. GRIFFIN:  -- and it's now been not -- not yet a month.  As one of the people with the most 

frontage next to this, so with one of the more skin in the game, it's a bit disheartening that nobody has 

been contacted further.  There hasn't been another meeting.  There hasn't been any way of saying, hey, 

you know, we heard what you said at the last meeting.  Can we -- it's -- it's cricket, which I just don't -- I 

don't feel great about it. 

 MS. GEUEA JONES:  Do you think that this will take care of some of the traffic concerns? 

 MS. GRIFFIN:  Yes.  I think that this little curb thing, whatever it's called, yes.  This alleviates 

the traffic concerns that I had, yes. 

 MS. GEUEA JONES:  Thank you very much.  Any other questions?  Thank you for being here 

tonight.  
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MS. GRIFFIN:  Thank you. 

MS. GEUEA JONES:  Appreciate it.  Anyone else to speak on this case?   

 MR. MCNALLY:  Good evening, Commissioners.  Thank you for the opportunity.  William 

McNally, 702 Russell, you know, the property directly across somewhat to the north on Russell 

Boulevard, the property at issue here.  So I'm aware many issues were raised by kind of the 

homeowners in the neighborhood.  Didn't have the opportunity to attend last session as it was, you know, 

right -- holiday season, college kids home for Christmas, get the opportunity to spend some time with 

them instead of coming down here to -- to speak my mind.  But tonight I wanted to come and share my 

thoughts and concerns about the project.  So, fundamentally, I understand and appreciate the right of the 

landowner to make decisions on what to do with their property.  Right?  You know, that's kind of inherent 

in our American ethos.  However, one of the benefits of living in a city and living in an established 

neighborhood is you have development plans.  You have ways and rules and means to assure proper 

and effective and efficient development of the property at issue.  In this case, I'm concerned that the 

proposal contained simply too many residential houses on a lot of that size for this neighborhood.  It will 

not maintain the consistency of the current ambience of the neighborhood, and it will, you know, further, 

you know, change the nature of the neighborhood to be much more like other streets around it, which do 

support -- you know, I heard one of the discussion items was people wanted to be able to downsize.  

Maplewood is full of smaller houses.  You know, other areas that -- that -- within the neighborhood do 

have houses that are smaller, lots that are smaller that wouldn't require the kind of upkeep, maintenance, 

and issues that you find on these larger lots in Russell.  And I think that this has been clearly borne out 

by the fact that the developer has requested multiple variances to the UDC.  They can't achieve their 

goals of a large development without the variances being granted.  Also, when I look at it and I think 

about that conservation easement, which is what I look out to when I look from my property across the 

street, and you realize how that sits, that some of those lots, the buildable area, you know, is going to be 

pretty tight to get a house of any size with any yard there, which fundamentally changes again the nature 

of the neighborhood.  So I would -- if the developer wishes to further develop the lot, I think compliance 

with the UDC or, you know, utilizing the existing right-of-ways that are in place are appropriate, and would 

give a much more uniform look.  It would look more like something like Oakwood Court, which is in the 

neighborhood, and which does have many houses developed around it.  But it has a standard public 

street, has standard right-of-way, does not have sidewalks, because it predates that requirement, much 

like my own house, and again, you know, those are my concerns and I thank the Council -- the 

Commission rather, and I thank the City staff for the time and energy that they put in, and their thoughtful 

approach to development within an established neighborhoods.  Thank you.   

 MS. GEUEA JONES:  Thank you very much.  Any questions for this speaker?  Seeing none.  

Thank you.  The next person to speak on this case?   

 MR. CONE:  Rex Cone, 503 Russell Boulevard. 
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 MS. GEUEA JONES:  Would you say your name again for the transcript? 

 MR. CONE:  Rex Cone, R-E-X  C-O-N-E, Rex and Jennifer Cone, 503. 

 MS. GEUEA JONES:  Thank you very much. 

 MR. CONE:  And I would encourage you -- thank you for -- I know this is volunteer time, and I 

appreciate that, you all are thinking about all this on our behalf.  I would encourage you to vote against 

this infill adjustment.  My understanding is that Jack and Kay Wax are completely within their rights to do 

this.  Having checked with the City, they're allowed to do this, so this is not a legal matter, they can do 

this.  But I think it's unrealistic to think that they will be able to protect the existing conservation 

easement.  I think that if they proceed, that it would be time for me to claim a detrimental harm to my own 

property before the City Council.  That's my understanding is really my only recourse.  They're allowed 

to do this, and I'm allowed to say I -- I do not want you to do this.  So I'm claiming the detrimental harm to 

my property.  I'm on three acres.  I have some personal concerns about the fact that we have 

established, we are making sidewalks, and so I'm encouraging you to follow those rules and vote against 

the infill adjustment because the rules are you have to have sidewalks, so that goes against that.  I'm 

kind of concerned, none of us know what's going to happen with trash bins.  This is, in fact, the Jack and 

Kay Wax private drive, then we're -- and you've already identified the City is not going to service this, so 

as people retire and want to downsize and stay on one level, are they now going to be carrying those 

trash bins all the way out to Russell and then let them sit there and that'll be, what, one, two, three, four, 

five, six additional bins, possibly.  So that's something we -- none of us, we can kind of anticipate.  

We've hosted international students living in our house from three different countries.  We've hosted a 

mother and child who needed some refuge.  My concern, as I'm explaining to them in our neighborhood, 

stay away from that street, it's private.  Don't get yourself in trouble and go down that street.  We have 

people that behave oddly suddenly when they live on a private, not a public street, so I'm very conscious 

of that.  A neighbor employed me to keep an open mind to really think this through, and I thanked him for 

doing that, and I have really, really processed this.  And I think if more houses are allowed on Russell, I 

would be a fool -- I would be a fool financially to not take advantage of turning my three acres over to 

development opportunity.  I could currently take my 1954-year-old house.  It leaks like a sieve in the 

basement and has all kinds of issues that an old house has.  I would be a fool not to develop those three 

acres and turn it over to someone like Jack and Kay Wax and let them write me a check.  So I'm just 

saying that that would be a good option for me if -- if the style of the street changes that I could just move 

on, you know.  I'm done with it.  It's very frustrating.  So my first step would be to encourage you to vote 

against the infill adjustment.  Secondly, it's my responsibility to protect my own investment by 

approaching the City Council and claiming a deferential harm.  and if none of that passes, then I would 

be foolish not to take my own opportunity to -- to benefit from the acreage that I have.  Thanks. 

 MS. GEUEA JONES:  Thank you.  Thank you.  Any questions for this speaker?  Seeing none.  

Thank you very much.  Anyone else to speak on this case?  Last call.  Please come forward.   
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 MR. GIBSON:  Yes.  My name is Terry Gibson; I live at 410 Russell Boulevard.  And my 

comments kind of echo the two previous people.  It kind of changes the character of the neighborhood, 

and I have concerns about whether it will -- they'll develop this as a co-housing like they did over on Ash 

Street, which I understand they have said they're not going to, but if they get approval, I'm not sure that 

will prevent them from doing it.  The traffic on Russell Boulevard is horrendous.  I came before the 

Council earlier last -- or sometime last year trying to put in speed bumps on Russell Boulevard.  Every 

street around Russell Boulevard has speed bumps but Russell Boulevard.  Russell Boulevard is a 

boulevard.  It is a half-mile long and I see cars all the time reaching 60 miles an hour.  And I walk down 

there, you know, three or four days a week.  Half the people that are speeding are on the phone.  It's a 

danger already.  The -- when Russell Boulevard has any kind of an activity, they park all the way back to 

my house, which is -- it's beyond 185 feet because I never got notice of this project being made, but it's 

considerably way back.  And now they're going to add, from what I understand, 100 new students at 

Russell Boulevard.  I -- I had not even thought about the trash problem that Rex Cone just mentioned.  

But, to me, the density is just too much.  It changes the character of the neighborhood and I think it 

increases a lot of the traffic problems that we have now.  And I can see, you know, actually sometimes 

where they block driveways, especially at pickup time, and also when they have community activities at 

Russell Boulevard.  I can see that driveway being blocked many times.  And they are primarily my 

concerns, mostly the traffic. 

 MS. GEUEA JONES:  Thank you very much.  Any questions for this speaker?  Seeing none.  

Thank you.  Anyone else?  Last call.  Seeing none, we'll close public comment on this case. 

PUBLIC HEARING CLOSED. 

 MS. GEUEA JONES:  Is there any Commissioner comment?  Seeing no comments, would 

someone like to make a motion? 

 MR. MACMANN:  I -- 

 MS. GEUEA JONES:  Commissioner MacMann? 

 MR. MACMANN:  Yes.  Thank you, Madam Chair.  Mr. Zenner, could you return to the page 

that calls out the design adjustments by chapter and verse, please and thank you.   

 MR. ZENNER:  I don't think we actually, specifically --  

 MR. MACMANN:  There is one call out, 29 --  

 MR. ZENNER:  Okay. 

 MR. MACMANN:  There it is.  There it is.  And my question is as follows.  That covers the 

sidewalk and the private road, 29-5.2? 

 MR. ZENNER:  Yeah.  29-5.2, paragraph 9, that is the design adjustment criteria for both.  

They're general criteria.  There are five or six general criteria.  These are consolidated. 

 MR. MACMANN:  I just am wondering about the wording then.  That being the case for 

housekeeping, we should do the design adjustments first, and then the plat? 
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 MS. GEUEA JONES:  Uh-huh. 

 MR. ZENNER:  And the plat has not been discussed yet, so I'm -- that was the other point I was 

going to make.  You can either take a vote on these design adjustments, which was the first half of the 

report.  We took the public comment, and I would probably suggest, for the purposes of the minutes, that 

we close out the design adjustments, and then I can give the staff report as it relates to the plat.  Even 

though we've covered both, I leave that to the prerogative of the Planning Commission.  I -- it was my 

intent to cover other aspects with the subdivision, however, separately. 

 MR. MACMANN:  Madam Chair, what do you want to do there? 

 MS. GEUEA JONES:  Legal? 

 MS. THOMPSON:  I think you've got -- you're going to eventually have three motions that you 

need to make. 

 MS. GEUEA JONES:  Right. 

 MS. THOMPSON:  You'll need to make two design adjustment motions, one for the reduced 

right-of-way, and the second one for the waiver of the sidewalks.  And then you'll need to make a third 

motion, approval of the preliminary plat.   

 MS. GEUEA JONES:  When do you prefer us to take the staff report on the platting action, which 

I did not realize we had not done. 

 MS. THOMPSON:  I did not realize, either. 

 MR. ZENNER:  I had stopped and that -- that wasn't meant to be a pregnant pause, but I had 

stopped, and didn't continue. 

 MS. GEUEA JONES:  I'm very sorry. 

 MR. ZENNER:  No.  That's all right.  Well -- 

 MS. THOMPSON:  Why don't we do -- why don't we go ahead right now and do any additional 

comments Mr. Zenner wants to make on the preliminary plat.   

 MR. MACMANN:  And then return to -- 

 MS. THOMPSON:  If Mr. Gebhardt wants to make any comments also on the preliminary plat.  I 

don't know that we need to open it back up to rehear any repetitive comments, but if there's any additional 

or new comments on the plat, you can take those, and then make those three motions. 

 MS. GEUEA JONES:  Why don't we do this?  Why don't we take whatever other comments you 

would like to make as part of the Commissioners' comments. 

 MR. ZENNER:  Oh, okay.  We can do that. 

 MS. GEUEA JONES:  And then I will, as a courtesy, because I really thought you were done.  

I'm sorry.  There was a screen and everything that had recommendations and whatnot.  As a courtesy, I 

will reopen the floor, but unless you have new information specific to the platting action that you have not 

already given, please let's not rehash what we just did.  I thought those comments were great and full.  

So, Mr. Zenner, please. 
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 MR. ZENNER:  Thank you, ma’am, and I apologize.  I should have probably just plowed on 

through.   

 Additional staff report was given by Mr. Pat Zenner of the Planning and Development 

Department. 

 MS. GEUEA JONES:  Are there any additional comments or questions from Commissioners?  

Commissioner MacMann? 

 MR. MACMANN:  Just a quick comment.  You said eight total lots in the end? 

 MR. ZENNER:  The total of eight, two common lots, one for storm water purposes, one for the 

road, and then – 

 MR. MACMANN:  We're looking at average of 17,000-plus.  I just have one question of you,  

Mr. Zenner, and I didn't ask it before.  It's a MacMann question.  That sewer, the private sewer, are we 

going public on all this? 

 MR. ZENNER:  This is all public, so the sewer line, if you'll notice, there's a purple line that 

comes -- 

 MR. MACMANN:  Up to the northwest, yes. 

 MR. ZENNER:  -- up to the northwest, so this purple line that comes into the property -- where's 

my cursor.  This purple line is the public sewer that already enters the site to serve the existing home.  

This private line would be eliminated.  I take that back.  The private line serving the current home, this 

will be eliminated.  The public sewer will come in.  There is actually a public sewer easement that has 

been identified on the preliminary plat that will take the private sewer system off of Oakwood Court 

through a -- through a future capital project that the City is working on and allow for the connection of that 

common collector system to go into the public system that this project will be developing -- or the public 

system that this project is developing.  I apologize. 

 MR. MACMANN:  I think I followed you.  I hope the -- our guests followed you there.  Thank 

you. 

 MS. GEUEA JONES:  Any other Commissioner comments or questions for staff?  

Commissioner Loe?   

 MS. LOE:  We're still in -- we’re in Commissioner comment? 

 MS. GEUEA JONES:  Yeah.  I was just politely allowing us to ask the staff questions before I 

offered the public one more chance. 

 MS. LOE:  I don't have any questions for Mr. Zenner. 

 MS. GEUEA JONES:  Okay.  Excellent.  I'll come back to you in just a moment.  Is there any 

additional comments, questions from public, please come forward.  And, again, if  you've got something 

new, that's great. 

PUBLIC HEARING REOPENED 

 MS. GRIFFIN:  So, once again, Anne Griffin; I live at 1815 Rollins Road.  One thing that I 
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wanted to address that Mr. Zenner brought up is he was talking about the addition of these other houses, 

and he specifically mentioned income diversity within the neighborhood.  And I remember that last time, 

and at our preliminary meeting with A Civil Group, I had asked how much these properties would be 

valued at or sell for if they were to be put on the market, and I was told $450,000 to $500,000, which, to 

me, doesn't bring any income diversity at all to the neighborhood because those houses price out most 

people that want affordable living.  Just for reference, if you wanted a 2,000 square foot house down on 

Maplewood or Manor, they go for about $300,000 to $325,000.  My house is next door to this.  It's 4,500 

square feet, and I paid $600,000.  So it's -- it's not bringing affordable, lovely families, it's $500,000 

homes, which -- so I just wanted to speak on that part.  Thanks. 

 MS. GEUEA JONES:  Thank you.  Diversity is one of those interesting words, isn't it?  Any 

other public comment?  Again, please don't repeat anything.  Thank you. 

 MR. CONE:  Rex Cone, 503 Russell.  Actually, I have a question, clarification.  I just want to be 

super sure I understand this.  There is not going to be that access on Rollins where we used to all think it 

was going be Quakers? 

 MS. GEUEA JONES:  Correct.  It will not be there. 

 MR. CONE:  So the only street is the Russell -- 

 MS. GEUEA JONES:  Where the existing driveway is.   

MR. CONE:  -- private driveway.   

MS. GEUEA JONES:  It will be extended to service the rest of the -- 

 MR. CONE:  So I'm just making sure that there is no access on -- 

 MS. GEUEA JONES:  Yeah. 

 MR. CONE:  -- because see, it has a circle there, but that must be her -- her house.  Got it. 

 MS. GEUEA JONES:  Yes.  Correct.  That's this house.  Yeah.  Thank you very much.  Last 

call.  Okay.  Very good. 

PUBLIC HEARING CLOSED 

 MS. GEUEA JONES:  Commissioner Loe, did you have something? 

 MS. LOE:  I wanted to observe that I found the proposal for the turnaround to be -- I appreciated 

it.  I liked that the T wasn't at the end of the turnaround to be -- I appreciated it.  I liked that the T wasn't 

at the end of the turnaround and closer to Rollins, but then internally both from aesthetics for the 

neighborhood potentially -- because I could have seen it pushed closer to the street, but also practicality 

because we had discussed that northwest lot probably being the one that most required the internal fire 

access as it is if the other lots are within 150 feet from the street.  I also just wanted to observe that 

change is difficult.  I was dismayed when the lot at 702 Russell was split up and we lost all the woods on 

the southern half of that lot for the two new houses that went in there.  But at the same time, I have 

welcomed the new neighbors, and I understand we live in a desirable neighborhood.  So as Columbia is 

a growing city, some of these changes will be coming.  Thank you. 
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 MS. GEUEA JONES:  Thank you.  Any other Commissioner comments?  Commissioner 

Placier? 

 MS. PLACIER:  I just noted on one of these maps that this is not very different from the 

Oakwood Court -- is it called Oakwood Court?   

 MS. GEUEA JONES:  Correct. 

 MS. PLACIER:  So the idea that it's completely out of character kind of exploded for me in that 

point looking at that.  I don't think the lots are that much, if any smaller than those, and that one also has 

just, you know, one access point for all those houses.  So that's -- that's maybe an example where there 

are things characteristic of this thing in that general area. 

 MS. GEUEA JONES:  Thank you.  Any other Commissioner comments?  If not, I would take 

motion from someone.  Commissioner MacMann? 

 MR. MACMANN:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  Mr. Zenner, could you return to the page we were 

at ten minutes ago?  I have it.  I have it here, and I want to make sure I use this, because what's on here 

is different.   

 MR. ZENNER:  You want to use this?  That's for the design adjustment. 

 MR. MACMANN:  Okay.  In the matter -- I'm going to make a series of three motions.  I'm going 

to begin with the right-of-way reduction.  Then I will proceed to the sidewalk, and that will determine 

whether we move forward to the preliminary plat.  So this is going to get redundant.  For your all's 

information, I must make all motions in the affirmative.  I move that X.  One of these, I will be voting no 

on, so don't be confused when I say I move that we do this.  Are you ready, Madam Chair? 

 MS. GEUEA JONES:  Please, continue. 

 MR. MACMANN:  In the matter of Case 21-2024, the reduction of the right-of-way, I move to 

approve.   

 MS. GEUEA JONES:  Is there a second? 

 MS. LOE:  Second. 

 MS. GEUEA JONES:  Thank you.  

 MS. LOE:  Do we need to add type of access?   

 MR. MACMANN:  I'm not sure how specific I need to get on this. 

 MS. LOE:  Okay. 

 MR. MACMANN:  As delineated in the staff report.  Is that sufficient? 

 MS. THOMPSON:  Yeah.  I would go ahead and make the motion for both the reduction of the 

right-of-way and the type of access as one design adjustment. 

 MS. GEUEA JONES:  Commissioner MacMann, would like to restate your motion? 

 MR. MACMANN:  I'm not sure I can follow her lead there.  I'm not sure what words she wants.  

That's the – 

 MS. THOMPSON:  What's written up there. 
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 MS. GEUEA JONES:  That whole thing. 

 MR. MACMANN:  Okay.  To restate, and this is less, but whatever -- to restate a motion.  I 

move, in the matter of Case 21-2024, the right-of-way reduction, I move to approve design adjustments 

and reducing the right-of-way width and type of access.   

 MS. LOE:  Second.   

 MS. GEUEA JONES:  Approval of the first design adjustment has been moved by Commissioner 

MacMann and seconded by Commissioner Loe.  Is there any discussion on the motion?  Commissioner 

MacMann? 

 MR. MACMANN:  I have a concern that I want to make sure it gets up to Council.  It probably 

won't make any difference.  I know the fire department is comfortable.  I'm not. 

 MS. GEUEA JONES:  Thank you.  Any further discussion on the motion?  Seeing none.  

Commissioner Loe, when you are ready, may we have a roll call. 

 MS. LOE:  Yes, Madam Chair.   

 Roll Call Vote (Voting "yes" is to recommend approval.)  Voting Yes:  Ms. Geuea Jones, 

Ms. Placier, Mr. Ford, Ms. Wilson, Ms. Loe.  Voting No:  Mr. MacMann.  Motion carries 5-1 

 MS. GEUEA JONES:  Commissioner Dunn had to leave. 

 MS. LOE:  Thank you.  We have six votes for.  The motion passes. 

 MR. ZENNER:  Five   

 MS. GEUEA JONES:  Five for, one against. 

 MS. LOE:  Sorry.  Five for, one against.  The motion passes. 

 MS. GEUEA JONES:  Thank you.  Moving on.  Would someone like to make a motion on the 

second design adjustment? 

 MR. MACMANN:  Yes, Madam Chair, if you are ready? 

 MS. GEUEA JONES:  Commissioner MacMann, go ahead.   

 MR. MACMANN:  In the matter of Case 21-2024, I move to approve the internal sidewalk waiver. 

 MS. LOE:  Second. 

 MS. GEUEA JONES:  Commissioner MacMann has moved for approval on the second design 

adjustment; Commissioner Loe has seconded the second design adjustment.  Is there any discussion on 

the motion?  Seeing none.  Commissioner Loe, whenever you're ready. 

 MS. LOE:  Yes. 

 Roll Call Vote (Voting "yes: is to recommend approval.)  Voting Yes:  Mr. MacMann,  

Ms. Geuea Jones, Ms. Placer, Mr. Ford, Ms. Wilson, Ms. Loe.  Motion carries 6-0. 

 MS. LOE:  Six for, the motion passes. 

 MS. GEUEA JONES:  Moving now to the platting action.  Since we have approved both design 

adjustments, we may now take a vote on the plat itself.  Had we denied either, they would have had to 

redraw the plat, and we would have had to delay this vote.  Would anyone like to make a motion on 
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approving the plat?  Commissioner MacMann? 

 MR. MACMANN:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  In the matter of Case 21-2024, the approval of the 

preliminary plat, I move to approve. 

 MS. LOE:  Second. 

 MS. GEUEA JONES:  Approval of the plat has been moved by Commissioner MacMann and 

seconded by Commissioner Loe.  Is there any discussion on the motion?  Commissioner Loe? 

 MS. LOE:  The recommendation notes minor technical corrections.  Do we need to include that? 

 MR. MACMANN:  I would amend that we -- that my motion to include minor technical 

corrections.  Is that okay with you, Ms. Loe? 

 MS. LOE:  Second the amended motion.  Thank you. 

 MS. GEUEA JONES:  Very good.  We have an amended motion.  Is there any further 

discussion on the motion?  Seeing none.  Commissioner Loe, when you are ready. 

 MS. LOE:  Yes. 

 Roll Call Vote (Voting "yes" is to recommend approval.)  Voting Yes:  Mr. MacMann,  

Ms. Geuea Jones, Ms. Placier, Mr. Ford, Ms. Wilson, Ms. Loe.  Motion carries 6-0. 

 MS. LOE:  Six votes for, the motion carries. 

 MS. GEUEA JONES:  Thank you.  Is there any other motion on this case that anyone would like 

to make?  I don't care, I'm just giving you the opportunity. 

 MR. MACMANN:  I don't. 

 MS. GEUEA JONES:  Okay.  Seeing none, that recommendation will be forwarded to City 

Council.  Since it was unanimous, it will be included in the consent agenda.  Correct?  So that means 

that the City Council will vote on it as part of a block of things instead of having a separate hearing on this 

case.  I encourage people who want to make their comments known to contact their City Council 

members.   

VII.  PUBLIC HEARINGS 

Case Number 49-2024 

 A request by Brush & Associates (agent) on behalf of TY-CO Investments, LLC, James and 

Patricia Sears, Coats St. LLC, TDW Investments, LLC, and Willy Investments, LLC (owners), for a 

rezoning of a 3.72-acre parcel from I-G (Industrial) and R-2 (Two Family Dwelling) to R-MF (Multi-

Family Dwelling) to match the existing uses on the site.  The subject site consists of Lots 1 

through 6 (including Lot 1E, 12 through 15, and part of lot 16 of the Alpine Estates Subdivision.  

 MS. GEUEA JONES:  May we please have a staff report. 

 Staff report was given by Mr. Rusty Palmer of the Planning and Development Department.  Staff 

recommends approval of the requested rezoning to the R-MF district.   

 MS. GEUEA JONES:  Thank you.  Thank you very much.  Before we go to questions for staff, if 

any of my fellow Commissioners have had any conversations with parties to this case outside of this 
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public hearing, please disclose so now.  Seeing none.  any questions for staff?  Commissioner 

MacMann, go ahead. 

 MR. MACMANN:  Thank you.  One is a question, and one is a comment.  Mr. Palmer, I'm 

looking on -- in the packet.  Can you help me?  Where's the sewer?  I think it's underneath the red line? 

 MR. PALMER:  I don't have the utility map in front of me.  I believe the red line you're referring, 

is it direct down Alpine? 

 MR. MACMANN:  Yes. 

 MR. PALMER:  Yeah.  I think it -- I think it does run right along on one side or the other. 

 MR. MACMANN:  That's what it looks like, and that looks like it's public, but I -- 

 MR. PALMER:  Yeah.  I believe it is public sewer.  But again, any type of modifications would 

require -- you know, any development would require a public main there anyway if it's not already in 

place, so that will be addressed as -- as development happens. 

 MR. MACMANN:  Right.  And just a comment, and you probably all know this, I'm just going to 

get it on the record.  I have no problem with rezoning this.  I think it's apropos.  We have lots of bad 

roads.  I can understand why the County didn’t accept it and I understand why we need to have it 

changed.  I'm just going to leave that right there.  Thanks. 

 MS. GEUEA JONES:  Thank you.  Any other questions for staff?  Commissioner Placier? 

 MS. PLACIER:  Yeah.  Just in line with that idea of the road, that was my question also.  It's not 

part of this process or this case, but what will be the process for improving that road?  Does it come 

along with -- 

 MR. PALMER:  Well, generally, it would -- it would be triggered by a replat, and -- and the back 

end of that is -- the front end is that the replat, we would ask for dedication of the additional right-of-way.  

I think, if memory serves, these are, like, 44 feet wide or 40 feet wide, so it would have to at least be the 

50 or 55 that we require, so there will be that dedication.  And then, as I said, the back end is kind of how 

do we -- how do we end up with a new road here.  I'm not totally clear on that, but basically, once the 

right-of-way is there and if we have -- especially if we have extensive redevelopment there, you know, the 

developer would be responsible for most of that, but given the nature of what's there, it might be very 

piecemeal the way it ends up being developed out, so -- 

 MR. MACMANN:  I’m just -- 

 MS. GEUEA JONES:  Commissioner MacMann? 

 MR. MACMANN:  -- we're not -- we're not paying to maintain this road, are we? 

 MR. PALMER:  No. 

 MR. MACMANN:  All right.  That's what I -- there -- thank you. 

 MS. GEUEA JONES:  All right.  Any further questions for staff?  Okay.  We'll go ahead and go 

to public -- 

PUBLIC HEARING OPENED 
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 MS. GEUEA JONES:  Any public comment on this case?  Once -- please state your name and 

address for the record. 

 MS. WAGNER:  Jackie Wagner at 3500 Mexico Gravel Road in Columbia. 

 MS. GEUEA JONES:  Go ahead, Ms. Wagner. 

 MS. WAGNER:  We're within the 250 feet of -- of this, right across the street on the corner of 

West Henley and Mexico Gravel Road.  And I'm up here because my husband is a little hard of hearing, 

but our main concern, and it is probably premature given this is just a vote on zoning today, but I'd like, 

just for the record, to bring up the fact that water flow.  Okay?  Because up at the signal light at the top 

of East Brown Station Road and Paris Road, when you come down around East Brown Station Road, it's 

a very steep hill, probably 30 percent grade.  It's short and the cars fly down there at 60 and 70 miles an 

hour.  We have requested speed bumps on Mexico Gravel Road and East Brown Station Road, but 

really haven't followed through and don't know all of the -- you know, how to accomplish that.  So I just 

wanted to bring up these -- these -- we already have some -- there's a creek between Mexico Gravel 

Road and Isherwood Drive -- oh, Isherwood Drive; there it is.  West Henley Drive and Isherwood, there's 

a creek that runs along in there.  And so we already have some water drainage problems down on West 

Henley, and so we would have great concern that they -- as far as we knew, the lots of the west side, the 

four lots, that we thought was just all drainage because there's a ditch there.  So I don't know all the 

details, but I just wanted to point that out that that's a grave concern to us is the water flow and the 

drainage.  And we have shopping carts in the creek, and now we have a homeless camp down the road 

at the church, next to the church.  That's all I wanted to say. 

 MS. GEUEA JONES:  Thank you.  Any comments or questions?  I will say contacting 

neighborhood services, they can help you figure out how to get the speed bump stuff going and -- and 

yes. 

 MS. WAGNER:  Okay.  Thank you.   

 MS. GEUEA JONES:  Any other -- Commissioner MacMann, go ahead. 

 MR. MACMANN:  Also this is -- we're in Lovelady's area.  Rusty, this is their -- 

 MR. PALMER:  Yes, I believe so. 

 MR. MACMANN:  Okay.  It is third.  Also your councilperson -- 

MS. WAGNER: Is Roy. 

MR. MACMANN:  -- he would be a person to contact.  And in regards to the storm water, 

something I totally despise, when this gets redeveloped, that should go away.   

 MS. WAGNER:  Maybe. 

 MR. MACMANN:  Well, but if it sits there for a while, and they can leave it sitting there for a 

while, because we shouldn't have those problems, and it's -- the other -- in regards to the other issues 

that you have, you are not the only neighborhood in the city that has these issues. 

 MS. WAGNER:  Correct. 
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 MR. MACMANN:  This is a worldwide issue at this time.  Thank you. 

 MS. WAGNER:  Thank you.  Appreciate your time. 

 MS. GEUEA JONES:  Thank you very much.  Anyone else to speak on this case, please come 

forward. 

 MR. DORR:  Hi.  Good evening.  Chris Dorr; I'm representing Coats Street, LLC, so I currently 

own two of the lots that are -- have current structures on them.  And then in -- under another contract 

with Mr. Sears on the vacant lot there, as well.  I started this application process and brought the other 

landowners along, as well, as I realized that I owned a property that had a four-plex on it, and it was 

zoned industrial.  And so as I thought about the worst case, some type of fire or something like that, as I 

asked questions about how I would rebuild, I had an issue.  And so originally this is why I started this 

conversation, and then it just makes sense for this area, for the spare lots that are there, to go ahead and 

create more affordable housing.  And as we do have a lot of industrial encroaching, you know, let's just 

say if there was a fire and these are industrial lots, you know, we can't put affordable housing on those 

lots there.  So it just made sense to come together as all of the property owners and put a proposal 

together to get this deemed what it is actually being used for.  Thank you.   

 MS. GEUEA JONES:  Thank you.  Any questions?  Seeing none.  Thank you.  Any further 

members of the public to speak on this case?  Once -- that’s all.  Okay.  We'll close public comment. 

PUBLIC HEARING CLOSED 

 MS. GEUEA JONES:  Any Commissioner comments on the case?  Commissioner MacMann? 

 MR. MACMANN:  Madam Chair, I have a motion.  In the matter of Case 49-2024, rezoning 

Alpine Drive from IG and R-2 to R-MF, I move to approve. 

 MR. FORD:  Second. 

 MS. GEUEA JONES:  Moved by Commissioner MacMann, seconded by Commissioner Ford.  Is 

there any discussion on the motion?  Seeing none.  Commissioner Loe, whenever you are ready. 

 MS. LOE:  Yes, Madam Chair. 

 Roll Call Vote (Voting "yes" is to recommend approval.)  Voting Yes:  Mr. MacMann,  

Ms. Geuea Jones, Ms. Placier, Mr. Ford, Ms. Wilson, Ms. Loe.  Motion carries 6-0. 

 MS. LOE:  That's six votes for; the motion carries. 

 MS. GEUEA JONES:  Thank you.  That recommendation will be forwarded to City Council.  We 

are going to stand at ease for five minutes.  No?  Okay.  All right.  If everyone is good, we'll keep 

going.  We only have the six Commissioners here, so if anyone steps out of the room, we have to pause.  

So before we go into this last case -- I don’t.   

MR. MACMANN:  Okay.  All right.   

MS. GEUEA JONES:  So make sure everyone is okay.  All right.  In that case, we will not stand 

at ease.  We will push forward and get done as quickly as possible.  Rusty, are you doing this next one, 

as well? 
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 MR. PALMER:  Yeah. 

 MS. GEUEA JONES:   

Case Number 58-2024 

 A request by Crockett Engineering Company (agent), on behalf of In2Action (owner), for 

approval to rezone 0.64 acres of property from the R-2 (Two-Family Dwelling) district to the R-MF 

(Multi-Family Dwelling) district to allow a "large group home," on the western half of the subject 

site located at the northeast corner of the intersection of Eastwood Drive and Sylvan Lane, and 

addressed as 2501 through 2505 Eastwood Drive. 

 MS. GEUEA JONES:  May we please have a staff report? 

 Staff report was given by Mr. Rusty Palmer of the Planning and Development Department.  Staff 

recommends approval of the requested rezoning to the R-MF district.   

 MS. GEUEA JONES:  Thank you.  Before we go to questions for staff, if any of my fellow 

Commissioners have had contact with a party from this case outside of this public hearing, please 

disclose so now.  Seeing none.  Thank you.  Any questions for staff?  Commissioner Loe? 

 MS. LOE:  Planner Palmer, can you go back to the slide that talks about units per -- yes.  How 

does this apply to group homes?  I know we have the 25 square foot per unit on multi-family. 

 MR. PALMER:  Yeah.  This analysis was kind of a hypothetical if it were -- if In2Actioon were to 

move -- vacate the parcel, and then it would be redeveloped with traditional single family.  With the group 

home, they -- there is no top limit necessarily, but they are limited on the size of the structure as they 

would with any -- any use really.  And so, like I said, the delineation we have in our Code is under eight 

residents or over eight residents.  And so there is no top limit, and that's kind of -- you know, that's kind 

of the rub here, so -- 

 MS. LOE:  It wasn't clear to me if the proposal was to keep the existing small group home and 

build the new larger group home? 

 MR. PALMER:  Well, the one at 20 -- 

 MS. LOE:  Or demolish the small one and -– 

 MR. PALMER:  The 2505 is -- is to stay for the time being. 

 MS. LOE:  Right. 

 MR. PALMER:  The -- from what I understand, the 2501 is to be demolished and replaced.  It 

does appear from their floor plans that they're either maintaining the existing footprint and then expanded 

it, but that's probably better for the applicant to answer, so -- 

 MS. LOE:  So the final plat would have two group homes on it? 

 MR. PALMER:  The final plat would -- would have two structures that -- yeah.  It would be 

operating really as one group home in multiple structures, if that makes sense. 

 MS. LOE:  It does.  Can you go to the conceptual plan?  So this didn't show any parking, and I 

counted six, seven, eight, nine bedrooms, and eight of those showed two people per, so I was coming up 
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with potentially nine parking spots per our code for this, and it looked to me like they would be going into 

the side yard, which would be a parking arrangement very much like what we just saw on the Alpine 

Drive, someone backing out into the street, basically.  I just -- is that a parking arrangement we allow? 

 MR. PALMER:  In terms of parking in the side yard, I believe -- 

 MS. LOE:  Parking in the side yard and backing into the street. 

 MR. PALMER:  I mean, that's your standard residential -- You know, everybody backs into the 

street, but -- 

 MS. LOE:  It is for a single-family residential, yes. 

 MR. PALMER:  Sure. 

 MS. LOE:  But now we're talking about a multi-family. 

 MR. PALMER:  And I believe that's part of the impetus for replatting it is so that parking would be 

provided in a more central location.  A lot -- I mean, of course, you've got six to eight units, six to 

residents in the house on 2505.  You'd have eight to ten here, I suppose.  So parking will have to be 

provided for -- for those residents.  I don't remember exactly what the requirement is, but that is 

something that would be addressed as we move forward with site plans and development plans for that -- 

that structure there, so -- 

 MS. LOE:  Would -- and then the parking would need to be provided at that current 2505, 

because currently it appears that they reused the existing garage and have a driveway, and as multi-

family, we would not allow tandem parking in the driveway to count toward the parking. 

 MR. PALMER:  Right.  Yeah.   

 MS. LOE:  And so parking -- 

 MR. PALMER;  Yeah.  I think the existing condition would be permitted to stay until they -- until 

they do the replat, and then I think we would have to address the -- the overall lots parking demand at 

that point. 

 MS. LOE:  And, finally, sidewalks would be required as part of the replat? 

 MR. PALMER:  Yes.   

 MS. LOE:  Thank you. 

 MS. GEUEA JONES:  Any other questions for staff?  Seeing none.  Thank you.  We will open 

the floor to public hearing. 

PUBLIC HEARING OPENED 

 MS. GEUEA JONES:  Please come forward.   

 MR. GREENE:  Good evening.  Andy Greene with Crockett Engineering.  Our officers are at 

1000 West Nifong Boulevard, Building Number 1, here in Columbia.  I apologize for the confusion on the 

conceptual nature of the building plan that you guys were looking at.  That was the -- basically, original 

conceptual plan that was submitted.  Architect basically went for the concept review, so I actually wasn't 

a part of that.  A little bit before I got involved with the project, but it's generally schematic in nature.  I 
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understand parking, you know, will need to be provided, and that's kind of our direction in the future of this 

is to take all three lots, turn them into one, and have a more centralized parking location maybe off on the 

bigger three-acre campus.  And so I, for what it's worth, please don't get hung up on that plan because I 

don't think it'll exactly look like that when it's all said and done.  I've got just a few notes on here about 

the program and a little bit about the rezoning request, and I'm just going to skim through.  As Rusty 

stated, In2Action is a non-profit organization offering transitional support and recovery services to a range 

of people either just getting out of prison or they could be graduates of the program that have been out for 

approximately three years or so.  In2Action is a certified clinical outpatient treatment program with the 

Missouri Department of Mental Health, as well as accredited by the National Association of Recovery 

Residences.  In2Action utilizes a social model of recovery rooted and Biblical principles, and now 

achieves some of the best outcomes in the State of Missouri for this type of program.  The facility 

interaction was founded by Dan Hanneken – he's with me here -- in 2012, and the main campus, as 

pointed out, functions out of the three-acre larger piece off to the side, which is zoned R-MF as previously 

stated.  To expand the program, In2Action in 2022, purchased these two subject lots, and they currently 

have single-family homes, and they use those as group homes.  They're continuing to grow, and so 

instead of the small group home, which would allow up to the eight -- I don't know the quite bedroom mix 

of those two existing homes, but we need more bedrooms is basically the point of it, and so the lot to the 

furthest west has been identified as target number one to basically rebuild a larger group home, and to do 

that, we need a R-MF zoning to potentially go over the eight residents -- residences per group home.  I 

covered that.  Let's see.  As I pointed out, having the R-MF zoning for these two subject lots will match 

the R-MF zoning of the bigger lot, which will then allow us to plat all three into one to create a little bit 

more inner-connectivity and unity for the campus as a whole.  Regarding adjacent zonings, R-MF zoning 

exists for the multi-family development to the east, as well as if you go a little bit further, it's a mixed-use 

corridor for the Socket Company down there.  As advised by staff during the concept review, public 

outreach was encouraged and Dan actually went -- I think it was Dan, or somebody from the program 

went door to door, and I've got a signature sheet and this exhibit there is just a map of depicting the site 

and the green checkmarks represent addresses that have signed the -- basically, a signature sheet 

saying that they show support for the project.  The two blue circles were properties that were 

approached, but it's my understanding they just didn't want to sign the letter.  As Rusty stated, this 

project is basically at a large existing node, a major collector of Clark Lane.  Sylvan is neighborhood 

collector, and then Eastwood Drive making it a candidate, giving it access and proximity to other 

comparable and more intensive uses in the immediate area.  As Rusty mentioned, the UDC also has 

neighborhood protection standards, so any new R-MF structure, other than a single-family home, or a 

duplex home, would have those neighborhood protections.  So here to ask you guys to show support for 

this project and vote yes. 

 MS. GEUEA JONES:  Thank you.  Any questions for this speaker?  Seeing none.  Thank you 
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very much.  Next person, please come forward.  Oh.  Thank you. 

 MR. JACKSON:  Good evening.  My name is Bruce Jackson, and could you pull that   

signature --  

 MR. PALMER:  What's that? 

 MS. GEUEA JONES:  Could we go back to Mr. Greene's -- just a second.  Could we go back to 

Mr. Greene's presentation with the map.   

 MR. JACKSON:  Well, never mind.  Let's not waste time with it.  I'm at 1411 Sylvan Lane.  One 

of the -- this is the second time we've been in front of this Commission in opposition to what In2Action is 

doing to our neighborhood, which is gradually turning it over into a large colony of folks who are 

transitioning out of -- out of prison.  And we have found them not to be particularly good neighbors.  And 

I apologize for the letter that I wrote, which was written just the day before I had to hand it into him at 3:00 

in the morning because it's kind of typical of what we've had to deal with here, and that is a lack of 

communication and a sense that they're not honest with us as the neighbors.  We feel like that this sheet 

that they sent, which you have a copy of on the back of what you just handed out is a good example, and 

my letter through it point by point, talking about why we consider much of what they say and what they're 

telling us as the neighbors to be dishonest.  Our concerns are that it's a tall building on a rather difficult 

corner.  It's also a building that's being placed on a lot and on a street that does not have sidewalks.  

And we're also concerned about the amount of traffic.  We don't know exactly what's going on in terms of 

how they're trying to plan for all the parking and that's already been raised, and that truly is one of our 

concerns because they park on the street most of the time, especially in front of my house.  And another 

example that just comes through here clearly that kind of demonstrates our complaint about their honesty 

is that in that sheet that they showed you, I am the circle at the top on Sylvan Lane.  The next one down, 

they have a green check, and that's a woman who is a single grandmother raising four children, and she 

is simply totally in opposition.  And one of the problems that we've had through this entire event is that 

we kind of get these different stories and we didn't really find out that we were getting these different 

stories from In2Action until last night, when we were able to actually get together and to talk together.  So 

I'm sorry for my nervousness.  I just don't speak well like things like this.  I -- the -- so, again, as this 

process, which I'm starting to find it's really rather complicated, starts to bear out, I'm going to have to go 

back and rewrite my letter and take all the horse manure out of it, and I apologize for that, and I'll try to 

stay strictly to the point.  And that's really all I have to say.   

 MS. GEUEA JONES:  Thank you very much.  Any questions for this speaker?  Commissioner 

Wilson? 

 MS. WILSON:  And the part of Anthony Stanton will be played by Shannon Wilson. 

 MS. GEUEA JONES:  I was -- I was wondering which of us would do it.   

 MS. WILSON:  So I will ask the question that Mr. Stanton normally would ask, which is if we want 

a win-win here, what does that look like for you? 
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 MR. JACKSON:  In the very first introduction with In2Action when they talked before the Zoning 

Commission before -- I think it changed their name -- was that their plan was to have houses all over the 

City of Columbia so that they could become part of the local neighborhood.  In fact, they say where 

community matters.  Our problem is is that we knew at that time it was a lie because we could already 

see that they were expanding.  They have -- it's not been mentioned here on Sylvan Lane.  They have 

what I know of is two houses.  And so they're buying up properties in our neighborhood, and changing 

the style, the feel of the neighborhood itself.  And what really concerns me is this tall building that's down 

on this very difficult corner which is a three-way corner.  And I think that that's -- it just -- it just -- it will 

change the character of the neighborhood and -- and we're just concerned about the other things that I 

mentioned in the letter.  

 MS. WILSON:  Follow up.  So for clarity, are you saying that the win-win would be if they had 

stuck to their original plan which was, in your words, to have houses all over the city rather than in a 

concentrated area? 

 MR. JACKSON:  And the person that was ahead of it just stood here and said that was their 

plan, and that we were told that was their plan, and we could see them buying up all these properties, and 

we just didn't feel like that was being honest.   

 MS. GEUEA JONES:  Anything else, Commissioner?  Commissioner Placier? 

 MS. PLACIER:  Yeah.  I just wanted to ask you, are you -- you are under the impression this 

would be a tall building? 

 MR. JACKSON:  Two stories. 

 MS. PLACIER:  The schematic we received did not show a two-story building, and maybe I'm -- 

 MS. GEUEA JONES:  Second page. 

 MS. PLACIER:  Oh, okay.  Okay.  Got you.  

 MR. JACKSON:  Well, not just that which troubles me, it's that particular corner because as you 

see, Eastwood coming in and sort of angling into the drive and Sylvan Lane. 

 MS. PLACIER:  Yeah.  I'm familiar with that. 

 MR. JACKSON:  And the additional traffic.  And also the sidewalks.  They're walking through 

our neighbor's yard.  So that other zero that's up there is also represented here, and -- and the reason 

neither one of us signed it is because I felt like when the -- I think it's called a Director of -- Director of 

Activities.  When he came and presented the petition to me, the thing that he said to me was, wouldn't 

you like to see us tear down that -- that old eyesore down there, which the house on the corner is 

dilapidated, and I said sure.  That looks fine.  But to take in that rather small property and stick a two-

story building on that particular corner, I just -- I think it changes the character of the neighborhood, and I 

think it just feels wrong, you know, to stick a big building on that corner.  I would rather see it, you know, 

smaller, at least. 

 MS. GEUEA JONES:  Thank you.  Any other questions for this person?  Thank you very much. 
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 MR. JACKSON:  Thank you for your time. 

 MS. GEUEA JONES:  Thank you.   

 MR. JACKSON:  We'll have a copy of this in the back.   

MS. GEUEA JONES:  Thank you.  Any other speakers, please come forward. 

 MS. JACKSON:  Janet Jackson, and that was my husband, and I'm speaking for me and for my 

next-door neighbor who couldn't come.   

 MS. GEUEA JONES:  I'm sorry, ma'am.  Would you pull that microphone down towards you?  

Thank you.  Do we need her to repeat her name?  No.  Okay.  Thank you very much. 

 MS. JACKSON:  I have a statement that I wrote, and I have a statement she wrote, and then 

some other comments about zoning issues with In2Action.  Several years ago, In2Action created a group 

home cross the street from us at 1410 Sylvan.  We didn't object.  A few years or so ago, they built a 

large two-car garage in the backyard separate, and moved tools, et cetera, from the attached garage, a 

two-car garage.  This past year, they appeared to have created two new housing unit rooms with doors 

to the outside on that -- in that space where the garage used to be.  They're still rated R-2, and they have 

a number of other people in the house, but those two new ones have their own window and their own 

entry door.  And a few years ago, which someone referred to, I think they said was 2020 -- oh, and they 

do have parking issues there, too.  They have so many people that they park a lot of cars on the street 

across the street from us.  Okay.  On the new -- a few years ago, maybe 2020, In2Action applied for a 

zoning change from R-2 to R-MF for a large area east of Sylvan Lane and north of Eastwood Drive.  Our 

broader neighborhood residents attended besides just the -- within 200 feet, attended the Planning and 

Zoning Commission and City Council meetings to oppose this change.  In2Action presented 

approximately a 20-minute video presentation on how important their work was, while neighborhood 

residents were only allowed three minutes each.  In2Action claimed they wanted their residents to be 

able to experience living in a neighborhood environment.  We later learned that the In2Action residents 

only stayed in the residence for 30 days, not enough time to really meet neighbors and experience the 

community.  In2Action was granted the zoning change and built modified group homes in the rezoned 

area.  Since that time, they have taken over nearly all of Eastwood Drive, all of the residences on 

Eastwood Drive.  They have now had to notify us that they want additional zoning changes because we 

are within the 200 foot of the subject property.  We want our neighborhood to continue to be zoned for 

two-family homes, instead of In2Action seems to be purchasing more homes -- more two-family homes 

and converting them to group homes.  And I have another one from Kimberly Chatman, who lives at 

1409 Sylvan Lane, my next-door neighbor.  I am Kimberly Chatman, and I live at 1409 Sylvan Lane, and 

don't agree to In2Action building a new group home.  I was told by an In2Action person that they were 

removing the abandoned house located on the corner of Eastwood and Sylvan to build a new home, not a 

big group home.  I feel In2Action is taking this whole area from family homes.  I've lived here for 30 

years, and do not approve of large group homes.  Hopefully, my input is helpful in making a decision on 
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rezoning.  And we've lived in our house for 27 and a half years. 

 MS. GEUEA JONES:  Thank you very much, ma'am.  Are there any questions for this speaker?   

 MS. JACKSON:  Did my husband give you the In2Action -- 

 MS. GEUEA JONES:  Yes, he did.  Yes.  We've got that in front of us. 

 MS. JACKSON:  There are a number of questionable issues with that.   

MS. GEUEA JONES:  Uh-huh. 

MS. JACKSON:  Removing the abandoned house is obvious.  Continuing to raise local property 

values through the revitalization of In2Action, that's questionable in my opinion. 

 MS. GEUEA JONES:  Yes, ma'am.  We've got all those comments in front of us, and both your 

husband's email and the -- the comments that you gave us.   

 MS. JACKSON:  We've just been getting -- each one of the people I've talked to got a different 

story from them on what they were going to do with that house, and how it would benefit us, and we just 

feel like they don't tell us the truth.  They just -- they're trying to make a sale. 

 MS. GEUEA JONES:  May I ask you, have you had any issues with their residents? 

 MS. JACKSON:  No, their residents are fine, and we really made an effort to get to know the first 

group that was there.  But they were there such a short time, you know, and that doesn't coincide -- or 

coincide or whatever the word is with saying they want them to be integrated into a neighborhood, so they 

know what it's like to be in -- living in a neighborhood. 

 MS. GEUEA JONES:  Uh-huh.  But you haven't had any issues with them, other than the fact 

that you feel like they're not being upfront with you about their plans. 

 MS. JACKSON:  Right.  And occasionally a resident over there will come over and offer to help 

me with something.  I fell off the ladder once, and they rushed over. 

 MS. GEUEA JONES:  Well, it sounds like the residents are good neighbors, even if you have 

issues with the owner. 

 MS. JACKSON:  Yes, that's true. 

 MS. GEUEA JONES:  Yeah.  And I guess my other question would be, if down there on the 

corner they did exactly what they did at 1410, would you have a problem with that? 

 MS. JACKSON:  If you look at the map that the City sent out -- 

 MS. GEUEA JONES:  Yes. 

 MS. JACKSON:  -- this whole area in here is R-2 families and so is most of the rest of it.  But 

In2Action has brought almost, if not all properties on Eastwood Drive, and turned them into group things.  

That's not isolated homes, that's just making a whole campus out of it.  And the person right next to that 

square is here to speak, too, but they're -- it looks like the building they're planning is stretching way up to 

her property line in order to get it wide enough.  It's a big, long building in the City's -- that they sent out 

with the City letter, and that's very odd for that corner.  That's too much, and that corner is always a 

problem with traffic.  People get into trouble almost hitting each other trying to get around the angle there 
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because most of the traffic comes from Sylvan Lane, and then Eastwood comes out there, and the -- I 

don't -- you know, we have conflicts there.  And when we turn in from Clark Lane to go there, you also 

sometimes run into trouble with that narrow Y.  It's much narrower than what it looks like on this.  It's an 

angle, it's not a square. 

 MS. GEUEA JONES:  Thank you very much, ma'am.  Are there any further questions?  Thank 

you for being here tonight. 

 MS. JACKSON:  Like I say, one of those checkmarks, my neighbor tried calling back and said 

don't put a checkmark, put a circle. 

 MS. GEUEA JONES:  Thank you.  Any further public comment? 

 MS. TURNER:  Hello.  Good evening.  My name is Tonia Turner, I live at 1406 Sylvan Lane.  

And I've had quite a bit of interaction with In2Action, as well as my neighbors.  I've been there for 20 

years.  I've raised my kids there and wanted to have a home ownership and stuff like that.  I want to 

mention a couple of things.  The 2505 property is, I believe, used to be -- it's a two-bedroom, so I know 

they can’t convert the garage to -- it may be off, so I'm not for sure.  The parking, they don't park in the 

driveways.  So they park on the streets, and I've known some people that had -- had went through the 

program.  So I think it's a great program.  I do have a lot of traffic walking back and forth, cutting through 

my yard, and I've had to tell them to not cut through my yard.  And there's -- so, you know, it may not be 

the same person, there's so many people going back and forth, you don't know who you're telling.  And 

I'm nice, I'm a nice person, you know, no big deal.  I get along with everybody.  The recent purchase 

that they did for the 2501 and 2505, those people -- okay, I’m going to do it individually.  2501, which is 

the one on the corner, the one they want to tear down, the same day that sign, the for sale went up, the 

same day it went down.  So I don't know if it was intentionally bought having the plan to rezone to make 

to a group home, because no one ever lived in it, so it's -- it was always left empty.  So it wasn't like it got 

bought and someone moved in or fixed it up, and it is an older house.  I mean, those houses, you know, 

it's an older house, so it probably needs some work.  So that house never did get fixed up and moved -- 

you know -- moved in like the 2505, which the 2505 is -- is in really good shape.  The lady there that 

used to live there was renting to own it.  The person that owned it sold the house not knowing it was 

going to get sold to In2Action.  He thought the lady would be able to stay there and rent.  And so, just 

the -- the option was you can stay here, the rent went up to where she couldn't afford it and had to move 

out.  So those homes were family homes, and I don't make a lot of money, but when I bought my house, 

I bought it so I could have -- you know, buy something that I could own.  So although I get along -- I get 

along with my neighbors including Mr. Dan, but when you change the whole area of a -- of a 

neighborhood like that, that's a lot of land over there, and it's all men out of prison.  I have kids and I'm 

going to have grandkids there.  I'm right in the middle; you know what I'm saying?  So with the continued 

building group homes and make it into a campus, it's like you -- it's different if you spread it out, but it's not 

being spread out.  Your population has changed greatly, and one type of population, men out of prison.  
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So although I think the program is great, it's different if it's spread out.  It's not being spread out.  It's 

being overtaken that -- you see that whole area there has all been overtaken -- that whole corner all the 

way up.  The -- the parking, they could park in the -- the parking was -- see, I don't know the address, 

1410, I believe, whatever is next to me.  I'm 1406. 

 MR. JACKSON:  1410 

 MS. TURNER:  1410?   

 MR. JACKSON:  Yes. 

 MS. TURNER:  So -- so there was -- so when they bought that house, they fixed it up.  It looks 

nice, built a driveway, extended the driveway so they can have parking for their -- for their residents.  But 

I've been there for a while and they don't park there, they park on the street.  And I can -- I can see that, 

you know, might be getting move in and out.  You know, no one moves the cars in and out for parking, so 

I get that.  But they park on the street, and they don't park in front of their house, they park in front of our 

houses.  And I will be, like, well, hey, whose car is this?  And I’m like, you know, and so they'll say it's 

over there.  I say, well, park in front of your own house, don't park in front of mine, you know,  What if I -- 

if I have company, then where is -- my company is going to park where?  Right in front of your house?  

So I don't know why that issue is, but I would not -- I don't think -- I don't know.  I love you, Dan, but -- but 

I just -- and I understand you're wanting to do something good with this program, but I don't think buying 

out and changing the whole dynamic of a neighborhood is what we should be doing.  I noticed that, like, 

online, it's a religious base, so is this tax exempt?  Are taxes being paid to the schools and the libraries?  

Are these people voting, you know?  This is -- I think I'm Third Ward now.  But I'm thinking about those 

type of things because those -- all that is being tied into this ward, and the money is going into these 

schools.  So are they paying taxes?  Is it religious based?  Because if it's not, are they paying those 

taxes, and are taxes going to the schools?  Are they going to the libraries, you know?  And like Ms. 

Janet said, people are there for -- we don't know how long they're there.  I've had people, and this has 

been a few years back, and they could have got the houses mixed up.  Come home, some of them are in 

my backyard, going through my -- going through my shed, cleaning up my patio, and I was just like --   

my -- my son had came home to it, so it's, like, what's going on?  And so I had people offer to do things 

in my yard.  I don't want you in my yard, but if they're in my yard, then I can't tell if you're supposed to be 

there or not; you know what I'm saying?  There's so many different people coming in and out, I don't 

know whose -- whose -- you know what I'm saying?  It makes me -- you know, I'm a -- it's me and my son 

that live there now, so I don't need -- I don't want the extra.  I try to stay to myself.  I speak to them when 

I speak.  The guys, some speak and some don't, which, you know, that's kind of okay, but it's not -- it's 

not family -- it's not family oriented; you know what I'm saying?  That's -- that's being depleted.  All that 

is getting pushed away. 

 MS. GEUEA JONES:  Thank you, ma'am.   

 MS. TURNER:  Okay.  Sorry. 
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 MS. GEUEA JONES:  Well, it's okay.  Are there questions?  Commissioner Wilson? 

 MS. WILSON:  I think I have a couple.  I'll start with the one that I can remember, which is I'm 

confused by what you are saying because you're making the point that they're parking not in their 

driveway, but in front of your home.  But this plan will create space for them to park. 

 MS. TURNER:  If they'd make parking, like, behind -- like, I had spoken to him, so they're 

planning on making -- and this has probably never been addressed yet, but behind my lot, because is that 

all going to go back behind my lot?  And maybe, like, a concrete road where they're going to park all 

back there; you know what I'm saying?  That’s going to becoming to ask for a road to be built later back 

there; you know what I'm saying?  These are just little bitty steps over throughout the years.  First it 

started out as, you know, they bought one home.  Now it's this, now it's that; you know what I'm saying?  

So where does it -- you know, like -- 

 MS. WILSON:  So just for clarity and similar to someone else who has spoken -- 

MS. TURNER:  Uh-huh?   

MS. WILSON:  -- are you -- is your angst that all of this is concentrated in this neighborhood 

rather than spread out? 

 MS. TURNER:  That, and something -- you guys said something about 2505.  So 2505 is not 

rezoned -- is not zoned for R-M -- the R-MF because it's -- it's a small house.  So are they planning on 

combining those lots, because otherwise that house can't be a -- because it sounds like you guys are 

saying something that they were going to -- those are R-MF lots.  2501 and 2505 right now are not and 

can't be because they said they weren't going to tear the 2505 down, which is a small house.  It only has 

two bedrooms.  The garage might have been converted into an office or something, but that's -- I mean, 

you can't get that many people in that house as it is right now.  So how is that going to be a R-MF unless 

they're going to plan on converting that over, as well or ask -- you know what I'm saying?  So is that the 

next plan, you know?  There are three -- three big houses at the other end of the R-MF houses, and 

those -- those are pretty large houses.  So if those are R-MFs, it seems like, instead of purchasing those 

other two houses at the end, that you would have went ahead and made those other houses just a little 

bit bigger.  They're pretty big houses.  They're pretty big.  Those were apartments.  Those had families 

in them.  The one -- and I don't even know the address.  It's the -- there's three big ones probably down 

there.  They were multiple -- multi-family -- they were apartments.  So I'm just saying, instead of making 

those at that time, convert them over, or make them larger, because the lots were there.  The houses 

were really big, they're two-story, if not three.  Instead of purchasing the other two, and then changing 

the whole dynamics of the neighborhood, because I'm -- and then look at the market, the buyout.  The 

buyout is above market value.  Those houses need to get fixed up and they raise their -- you know, they 

raise their property, but who is going to buy my property?  No one is going -- no one is going to move in 

my house, but probably them.  No one is --1409?  No one is going to buy her property.  Those property 

aren’t going to go up.  No one is going to buy those properties.  Ms. Janet and them, they’re older.  No 
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one is going to buy their properties.  The family dynamic is going to be gone. 

 MS. GEUEA JONES:  Commissioner Wilson, are you done with questions?   

 MS. WILSON:  I have another question. 

 MS. GEUEA JONES:  Please go ahead.  No.  You're fine. 

 MS. WILSON:  When you say no one is going to buy their properties, is that based upon where  

it -- what is there today? 

 MS. JACKSON:  Yes. 

 MS. WILSON:  So building this building wouldn’t make the matter worse? 

 MS. JACKSON:  Yes, it will.   

MS. WILSON:  In -- 

MS. JACKSON:  Because now it’s going to be a group home, so now it's more people.  That -- 

that corner is already busy as heck.   

 MS. WILSON:  No.  No.  No. 

 MS. JACKSON:  What do you mean? 

 MS. WILSON:  Focus on the question.  Your statement is no one will buy the homes today.  So 

if no one will buy them today, they won't buy them tomorrow either when the building is there. 

 MS. JACKSON:  Definitely not.  Yeah, definitely not, because it's going to increase -- increase 

more, because right now that 2501 is an R-MF, 2505 is not.  So -- you know what I'm saying?   

 MS. WILSON:  Got you.  Roger that.  Thanks. 

 MS. JACKSON:  Is this -- is this a tax exempt?  Is it a tax exempt --   

 MS. WILSON:  We don't know. 

 MS. GEUEA JONES:  Yeah.  That's not in our purview.  Any further questions for this speaker?  

Seeing none.  Thank you very much for being here tonight, ma'am. 

 MS. JACKSON:  Okay.  Thank you. 

 MS. GEUEA JONES:  Anyone else, please come forward.   

 MR. TURNER:  My name is Drew Turner; I live at 1406 Sylvan Lane.  And this is just a follow-up 

questions for Commissioner Wilson.  So we mentioned on the 2501 Eastwood, that's potentially what's 

being recommended is the parking that's allocated.  And so when we build that, or when they 

theoretically build that, they are going to build in parking that has to be accommodated, like, that is 

something that is given.  And I believe what Tonia was saying as far as 1410, there already isn't enough 

parking at that residence, so I imagine that would still be a group home, nothing is going to happen to 

that, that's not being dissolved.  So if there's not already enough parking for 1410, I think the question is, 

you have that parking theoretically that's going to be built for 2501, but we still have that issue of 1410.  

There still isn't enough parking there.  Under what pretense do we have that if this parking lot gets built at 

2501, what kind of utilization is there going to be since there have been projects at 1410 to expand that 

parking and that parking is not being utilized.  That parking is not just being -- the matter -- you know, it's 
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a public street.  You're essentially free to park wherever you want.  It is a narrow street.  Sylvan Lane 

does not have a sidewalk, so my concern is, obviously, the lack of easement there to, like, build a 

sidewalk.  They already park on not just one side of the street, multiple sides of the street, multiple 

residences.  So I think that just the matter of that is being even if this parking lot gets constructed, even if 

it's an R-MF zone, there's just going to be an oversaturation of residents that have those cars, even if it's 

right next to us, that R-2, there's just such a saturation of cars right now.  I really don't think that building 

that alone is going to accommodate those residents.  There's nothing to accommodate those residents at 

1410 that are already oversaturated.  And that's just what I kind of wanted to clarify.   

 MS. GEUEA JONES:  Thank you very much.  Any questions for this speaker?  Seeing none.  

Thank you very much.  Is there any other member of the public to speak?   

 MR. HANNEKEN:  Good evening.  My name is Dan Hanneken; I work for In2Action; I'm the 

executive director.  Our offices are located at 1403 Eastwood, Unit C.  I won't take too long.  I definitely 

want to answer questions if you have questions.  Certainly don't have time to clarify a lot of the 

misinformation that has gone out tonight.  I can tell you In2Action is -- is both state and nationally 

recognized as being one of the most effective programs around when it comes to reducing recidivism.  

The people that we serve are from the Columbia/Boone County area, and the recidivism rate in Columbia 

and Boone County are consistent with the state recidivism rate which is 43 percent in three years.  Our 

recidivism rates for people that stay engaged in our program for just three months go below ten percent, 

and those that stick around for six months below five percent.  What we're doing is improving public 

safety, and we're giving people truly a second chance.  A couple of things that I want to say.  One, I'm -- 

I'm faculty in the School of Social Work over at MU.  I'm very thoughtful about the decisions that we 

make.  There's all kinds of different options on ways that we can do things.  Some of those options were 

presented by some of our neighbors.  But we're very thoughtful and very intentional about what we do.  

Another thing that I would like to say is we're here tonight because we want to do things by the book.  

We're here because we want to be in compliance with everything that the City expects us to do.  We 

have, as far as I know, we're in complete compliance with everything that we do right now.  We want to 

continue to move forward that way, and if anybody in the City or if any of our neighbors feel like we're not 

in compliance with what the City requires, I would sure like to know because we will get that corrected.  

And it's expensive to be compliant with the City, but we'll -- we're willing to do that.  And -- and I guess, 

you know, I think it's important to note how this project is being funded, because I think it will speak to the 

credibility and the validity of who we are.  We have Department of Economic Development State 

revitalization funding.  We've already spent hundreds of thousands of dollars on our properties over there 

at Eastwood and Sylvan, and this is not a neighborhood that people are investing a lot of money trying to 

make that part of the -- that part of the community.  Our houses look awesome.  Okay?  This house will 

look awesome.  It's being funded by the Department of Economic Development revitalization funds, so 

we've been vetted by the State of Missouri.  It's being funded by Boone County ARPA funds.  We've 
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been vetted by Boone County, and it's being funded by City of Columbia ARPA funds, so we've been 

vetted by the City of Columbia.  So I think if there was as much dishonesty or game-playing that -- that 

has been, you know, presented tonight, I think we would have been vetted out of that.  Those are very, 

very competitive awards.  The -- the 2501 -- just let me add some clarification.  2501 has been an 

abandoned house for quite a while.  We originally sought to just renovate that house.  That house was 

built before the City even had codes, so the house itself is out of code.  We were told, you know, you  

just -- you just need to bulldoze that thing down and start over.  So -- so that's what we're doing.  It -- it 

really is an eyesore.  It's a mess.  I apologize to my neighbors that we haven't done something with it 

already.  When we bought it, it's probably been a year since we bought it, we planned on doing 

something with it pretty quickly, but, you know, as we went down this road, it just turned into a much 

bigger project than we thought.  The -- the other thing that I'll say, and I want to be sensitive to this.  We 

work with a very heavily stigmatized group of people.  I'm used to having these conversations, and I don't 

want to dismiss the feelings of our neighbors and the concerns that our neighbors have.  But -- but as 

you've heard tonight, we do good work with our guys.  We have 24-hour/7.  We have staff that live on 

our campus.  We have three staff members and a board member that live on site, plus we have 24-hour 

staff.  We -- we have curfews.  Nobody at In2Action is allowed out past 11:00 at night or midnight on 

weekends.  If they're in their first 30 days, that curfew is 6:00 at night.  We regularly drug screen all of 

our residents.  And it's that type of structure and that type of support that we offer to these individuals 

that we're able to see the outcomes that we see.  And that's why we have people that will go running 

across the street to the neighbor when they fall off a ladder because we're cultivating that type of 

community and that type of belonging.  Our average length of stay at In2Action is six months.  That -- 

take that with a grain of salt because we absolutely have people that come there and three days later, 

they're out the door.  But we have people right now that have been there nine years.  Okay?  One of 

the things that this house will provide, and it is a larger group home.  One of the things that it will provide 

is an opportunity to free up some of our one-bedroom apartments for longer term affordable housing for 

our graduates, because right now we have to use some of our other units that are more set up for 

independent living for people that just don't quite have enough money or haven't cleaned up their credit or 

can't get a rental place on their own because they have a criminal record.  Well, we want to be able to 

put those people in our one-bedroom apartments and keep the people that need the heavier support into 

the group homes.  So it's way past my bedtime, but I want to answer questions because I know some of 

you looked a little bit confused with some of the other comments and maybe some of my comments.  If 

you have any questions, please ask.   

 MS. GEUEA JONES:  Any -- okay.  Let's see.  We'll start with Commissioner MacMann, then 

go to Commission Wilson, and then I have a question.  Go ahead. 

 MR. MACMANN:  Thank you.  Thank you, sir.  When you came before us in 2020, I was here.  

Some of the rest of us folks were here, and I was all about your program.  I think it does wonderful work.  
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You're fantastic.  Thanks.  One of the things we talked about then, which really got me going -- I have a 

background in sociology -- was your desire to intersperse your program throughout the community.  I do 

not doubt that you're doing good work where you are.  I would assume from the nature of your 

organization, you're a Biblical man.  If we're stealing from Peter to pay Paul, we may not be doing the 

best work.  And here's what I'm saying is I'm by your place four times a week probably.  The more you 

expand there, the more that neighborhood goes downhill.  I thought you were going to do your 

foundational thing there on Eastwood, and then spread throughout the community, because I know the 

other places like you throughout the town, and people don't even know they're there, other than, you 

know, four, five, six people.  How many folks do you have on this area right here?  Thirty, forty?   

 MR. HANNEKEN:  With all of the -- 

 MR. MACMANN:  Just right there at Eastwood -- right there. 

 MR. HANNEKEN:  Just right there, probably about 45. 

 MR. MACMANN:  Forty-five people.  I submit that your impact on the community is better than 

one or two -- it's more extensive than one or two group homes.  And you are doing good work, but we 

can't be moving other people out.  The woman said that she can't sell her house, you know what, she's 

right.   

 MS. GEUEA JONES:  Commissioner MacMann, do you have another question. 

 MR. MACMANN:  I do not.  Thank you. 

 MS. GEUEA JONES:  We will get to comments, I promise.  Commissioner Wilson? 

 MS. WILSON:  I wasn't here, so he sort of answered my question.  But I wanted to ask you 

directly, so, what was presented -- and years ago when you all came?  Was it the presentation that we 

would be dispersed throughout the City, or was it the presentation that, you know, we found a place, this 

is a good place, we have a single staff, everybody is here, it's easier for us to monitor, so we're just going 

to be right here.  What was the presentation? 

 MR. HANNEKEN:  Yeah.  That's a good question, because I guess my recollection is different 

than two people, so I'm outvoted.  I concede that.  My -- my -- and here's what I believe my mindset has 

been from the beginning is we want to help people transition back into the community.  Okay?  And to 

be productive employees, to be productive dads, to be good sons, good neighbors, all of that.  So -- so, 

yeah.  The goal is that people come through our program and they filter out into the community.  As far 

as having a scattered housing model, that -- I -- I don't recall ever sharing because I've never believed 

that I -- I believed in a scattered housing model because what makes us successful is -- is the campus, is 

the community.  So we have people that will come to our program today from prison that have a 

roommate that got out two weeks ago, there is somebody downstairs that got out two months ago, and 

there's somebody across the street that got out two years ago, and guess what, the magic happens when 

the staff go home.  And hope is ignited when somebody who gets out of prison today sees somebody 

that they did time with a couple of years ago, and they've been out two years now, and they're back by 
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the pond barbecuing.  Okay?  That's what we call the social model of recovery where peers with peers 

and peers that have had success can rub shoulders with people that just got out, and they're looking at 

the guy that's been out for two years, and like, man, I remember when you were on the street and you 

were doing this and you were doing that.  What happened?  It's, like, man, you don't have to live like that 

anymore.  Now this guy has got hope.  So -- so the whole campus community type perspective has -- 

has been my goal from the beginning.  Now -- now I will say this, we pretty much reached our capacity.  

And what I mean by that is we could buy -- we could buy three city blocks and fill up all those houses, but 

we'd be bringing people from Kansas City and St. Louis and Hannibal and Joplin.  That's not good for the 

community and it's not good for -- it's not good for those people.  If we ever wanted to provide services to 

people in St. Louis, we'd go to St. Louis.  So we kind of hit our sweet spot.  So to say that we're in a 

position now that we can serve everybody who is from the Columbia/Boone County/Central Missouri 

area, and we don't have to turn anybody away, and that -- that was our goal.   

 MS. WILSON:  Thank you. 

 MS. GEUEA JONES:  I had a couple of questions.  The properties at 1410 Sylvan and 2505 

Eastwood, what kind of occupancy permit do you have on those? 

 MR. HANNEKEN:  They're both what are considered -- I'll just throw some acronyms out that if 

you want clarification.  They're non-accredited Department of Mental Health certified, and City of 

Columbia approved group homes.   

 MS. GEUEA JONES:  They’re classified as group homes?  So you have an occupancy permit 

saying it's a small group home? 

 MR. HANNEKEN:  Uh-huh.  Yeah.  Yeah.  And we didn't add beds to 1410, that we -- we did 

do something with the garage, there's two offices in there with two separate doors and windows, but we 

haven't added any beds. 

 MS. GEUEA JONES:  Are -- are any of your residents disabled in any way? 

 MR. HANNEKEN:  You -- technically speaking, they all are.  Everybody that we serve has a 

substance use disorder, and that is considered a disability.  Yeah.  And we do not serve sex offenders 

simply because of the -- 

 MS. GEUEA JONES:  Sure.  No.  But they don't -- you don't have people with physical 

disabilities, like, you don't have people that use wheelchairs, you don't have people that need service 

animals? 

 MR. HANNEKEN:  We have not had either of those.  This new house that there was mentioned 

nine bedrooms, one of the bedrooms is going to be accessible if we do have somebody that needs 

services that uses a wheelchair.   

 MS. GEUEA JONES:  My other question is how -- how many people do you think would be too 

much of a concentration?  And here's why I ask that.  I agree with you, peer support is incredibly 

important especially in re-entry programs.  I also think it is important to feel a part of the community that 
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you are re-entering; right? 

 MR. HANNEKEN:  Uh-huh. 

 MS. GEUEA JONES:  So if you did buy up all of that side of Sylvan so that you've got a -- it 

would probably be ten-acre campus or something where you could have 250 people, let's say, or 100 

people even, at what point have you tipped that balance too far in the wrong direction where now you're 

no longer re-introducing people to the community, because this is a -- I mean, it's -- it's a neighborhood 

area, sure.  It's fairly off on its own and surrounded by pretty heavy industrial right there on Clark Lane 

and Paris.  Right?  Like, it's kind of a little pocket around everything else.  So I guess at what point are 

you no longer re-introducing people as much as putting them in a new closed-off community? 

MR. HANNEKEN:  Yeah. 

MS. GEUEA JONES:  And how do they get -- like, then do you have to have yet another 

transition housing area?  Like, what's that look like? 

 MR. HANNEKEN:  Yeah.  Like I said, I think we've hit our sweet spot.  We don't need to grow.  

The only reason -- 

 MS. GEUEA JONES:  But you're asking to. 

 MR. HANNEKEN:  Huh? 

 MS. GEUEA JONES:  But you're asking to. 

 MR. HANNEKEN:  Well, yeah, I guess maybe I'm making some assumptions that I shouldn't be 

making.  But with this, we'll be where we need to be.  We'll be where we need to be.  Again, I 

considered the sweet spot never having to turn anybody from our community away, and we're there.  

We're just about there.  What this house is going to do, I don't believe we're going to be serving more 

people, but we'll be able to keep people longer.  And that's why I went back to -- so we have a -- we have 

a six-plex with six one-bedroom apartments.  We also have a two-bedroom house as part of our campus.  

And then we have another building that has two one-bedroom apartments, and a three-bedroom 

apartment.  So some of that is being used more for transitional type housing and there comes a time 

where we -- you know, we call it kicking people out of the nest, but sometimes they're not really ready to 

be kicked out, but we -- we have to move people along to take in the new people that need the more 

intensive services.  So with this -- with this additional larger group home, we're going to be able to use 

some of those apartments, that little two-bedroom house to keep people longer.  We have one guy that I 

told you he's been there over nine years.  He's an anomaly.  He's an outlier.  But we do have a couple 

other people -- we have several people that have been there for two years, but we have a number of 

people that could benefit from staying that long if we had the capacity to do that.   

 MS. GEUEA JONES:  Thank you very much.  Any further questions?  Okay.  Commissioner 

Placier, go ahead. 

 MS. PLACIER:  Oh. 

 MS. GEUEA JONES:  No, go ahead, Commissioner Placier. 
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 MS. PLACIER:  Well, I hope you can understand how Ms. Turner in 1406 Sylvan feels being 

surrounded by your facilities.  She's pretty much incapsulated there.  It does look like -- I don't know 

what her options will be.  Was there really no option to expand further, since this is a new build, was 

there really no space on the Lakewood side to do a new build of the kind of facility you want, because that 

is a tough corner.  I've -- I've driven up there to drop people off, and almost as soon as you get off Clark, 

you're there, and so it is a tough place, and I'm wondering if there really was no opportunity to expand on 

Lakewood. 

 MR. HANNEKEN:  I think there -- there could be.  We'd still have the -- you know, the 

abandoned out-of-compliance house of 2501 that something needs to be done with that.  One of the -- I 

mean, one of the things that the neighbors were concerned about when we -- when we did the initial 

rezoning of that bigger plat, and I understand this concern.  One of my commitments was, no, we're not 

going to start building a bunch of new buildings back there.  There's some really beautiful green space 

back there.  There's a pond that we got cleaned up.  And, I mean, even when we were cleaning up the 

pond, some neighbors were concerned that we were bulldozing and going to start putting apartment 

buildings and stuff in there.  So, you know, I'd like to really hold true to that, that, you know, that's not 

what we planned on doing when we bought that property was to build more buildings on it.  But we're 

replacing -- we're replacing a house on 25 -- at 2501 that needs to be replaced.  We're just replacing it 

with a bigger house.   

 MS. GEUEA JONES:  Anything further, Commissioner?   

 MS. PLACIER:  No.  I would just argue it's not just a house, it is a group home, so -- (inaudible).  

 MS. GEUEA JONES:  Commissioner Wilson? 

 MS. WILSON:  How much of your plan comes from or is intertwined with the needs of the 

neighbors, meaning how much have you consulted with the neighbors to create your plan, or did you just 

create a plan and tell the neighbors this is what we're doing? 

 MR. HANNEKEN:  We have a little bit of communication with neighbors, probably not as much 

as we would like.  We've -- you know, we've attempted to send out mailings.  We -- you know, we just 

don't get much of a response.  We do talk to our neighbor next to -- next to 1410 quite a bit.  The other 

gentleman, I tried to talk to him after the last City Council meeting, and he was pretty emotional and really 

didn't want to speak to me about anything.  So this is a tough population that we're advocating for, and I 

get it.  You know, I get it. 

 MS. GEUEA JONES:  Please -- sorry.  If you don't face forward, they can't hear, and I get in 

trouble. 

 MR. HANNEKEN:  Oh, I'm sorry.  I -- I -- you know, I would like to make everybody happy, but I 

don't know that I can do that.   

 MS. GEUEA JONES:  Thank you very much.  Anything further?  Seeing none.  Thank you very 

much.  I'm sorry.  No, ma'am.  All right.  We will close -- unless somebody else needs -- I think we've 
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talked to everyone in the room, so we will close public comment. 

PUBLIC HEARING CLOSED 

 MS. GEUEA JONES:  And go to Commissioner comments.  And I think Commissioner Loe and I 

have a question or two for staff, if we want to start there.  I would like to.  Okay.  Do you want to ask 

since you're -- 

 MS. LOE:  No.  Go for it. 

 MS. GEUEA JONES:  Okay.  So I am a little confused as to if when we say these are small 

group homes, if that is an actual designation, or if that is just casual language use.  And the reason that I 

ask is because they don't meet our definition of a group home.  They meet our definition of a halfway 

house, which has very different zoning. 

 MR. PALMER:  I'll let Mr. Zenner answer this. 

 MR. ZENNER:  And now we'll let Ms. Thompson fill you in after I respond.  The definition of 

large and small group home within the Code, there is no such licensure that we issue specific to that 

classification.  The differentiation between a halfway house and a group home is a conditional use 

permit.  They are both permitted in the same zoning district that is being requested.  There has not been 

an analysis based upon what the applicant is asking for, if it qualifies as a group home or if it is a halfway 

house.  A group home, however, is not just restricted to physical handicaps.  It is inclusive of other 

handicaps as defined, and therefore, we have to have an analysis of those additional handicaps that are 

being served on this property.  If it is determined when we do that analysis that it is not a group home, 

but it is a halfway house, the applicant would be informed of that, and they would need to come to get a 

conditional use.  Bottom line is, is a halfway house or group home cannot be on the R-2.  It requires a 

rezoning, so the first in principle issue at hand here is, is this property properly situated to be considered 

to be rezoned to the R-MF zoning district based on its land use context, not based on what the use that 

may be determined to be something that we have applied based on this applicant is operating at 1410 as 

a group home, which is how we have proceeded forward based upon the fact that they are looking at 

expanding that operation.  So we have not done the full complete analysis of the class that may qualify 

as a group home occupant.   

 MS. GEUEA JONES:  When they came for 1401, and I know I was here, and I don't remember, 

and I didn't think about it until it was brought up, do they have a CUP on 1401? 

 MR. ZENNER:  No, they do not.  Not to my recollection, and I've been here long enough, I 

remember exactly what Mr. Hanneken indicated, they clearly described as a part of that public hearing 

that they were not intending on building additional homes or structures on 1410.   

 MS. GEUEA JONES:  So they are operating on -- 

 MR. ZENNER:  They are operating as a large group home, if I'm not incorrect. 

 MS. GEUEA JONES:  But who did the analysis for -- not for 1410, for 1401? 

 MR. ZENNER:  1401 -- 
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 MS. GEUEA JONES:  Who did the analysis, and -- and I guess my -- the issue that I'm having is 

that they are operating.   

MR. ZENNER:  No.  They are, and I -- 

MS. GEUEA JONES:  So when do we -- 

MR. ZENNER:  I'd have to go back to our -- I'd have to go back to our records.  I don't know 

how.  I don't have that instantaneous recall of all of the details.   

MS. GEUEA JONES:  Sure. 

MR. ZENNER:  What I can tell you is, is to my recollection, there is no CUP for either -- for any of 

the operations that they currently are operating, and they have been operating for several years. 

 MS. GEUEA JONES:  Right.  So at what point do we, as the City, or you as the City staff, at 

what point do you review what someone is getting ready to do with a property to say you can't do that 

there, because they are fully licensed to operate, but they are not complying with our zoning 

requirements, potentially. 

 MR. ZENNER:  I would contend -- I would contend that they may -- for us to say that they are not 

currently complying without us being able to go back and look at our records -- 

 MS. GEUEA JONES:  I see. 

 MR. ZENNER:  -- I think that is an assumption that is being made that may be incorrect. 

 MS. THOMPSON:  And I'll just hop in.  I don't -- I wasn't involved with the issuance of the 

occupancy permit and what evaluation went into that as far as whether they comply with the use as either 

a small or large group home.  But the definition of that disability under the Fair Housing Act is -- does 

involve substance abuse disorders, alcoholism, and drug abuse.  And again, I don't know what analysis 

went into the issuance of the occupancy permit for those other addresses, but I imagine that is part of the 

analysis at that stage. 

 MR. ZENNER:  And typical multi-family permitting, just to close the loop possibly on this.  So 

depending on -- again, I cannot remember how all of this transpired initially for the rezoning action.  This 

property may have initially been issued a rental compliance certificate -- 

MS. GEUEA JONES:  Uh-huh. 

MR. ZENNER:  -- and that would have been through our Office of Neighborhood Services that 

would have performed the inspections that they would have been required to perform.  And it got to a 

particular stage of its usage that the necessity to rezone the property then was brought forward to us, 

resulting in the initial rezoning actions of the larger property to the R-MF district, and it then being 

reclassed as the group home designation, and that's -- if I'm not incorrect, that may be the way that this 

played out over the course of time, because as the applicant has indicated, these were originally rental 

properties, and I believe the way that they were being rented or used was what drew the attention of the 

necessity for the zoning change.  And at that point then, based upon what we understood to be the 

operation, it was most likely a decision that was made amongst management staff, that would have been 
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not necessarily been me, that would have been Mr. Teddy, and probably Ms. Kottwitz, our ONS manager, 

to conclude what was being asked for was correct within the Code context.  We knew we needed a 

halfway house, and in shorter terms, we would have required at that time, because that was what the 

ordinance would have mandated, we would have required a CUP, and we probably would have required -

- we would have required the zoning also.   

 MS. GEUEA JONES:  I have one more thought, and then I'll let Commissioner Loe jump in.  I -- 

if the -- if the operation were requiring people to have substance and alcohol abuse disorders, I would 

agree that group home, whether small or large, fits.  I don't believe that to be the case.  I am a little also 

concerned that we have this halfway house designation, which is a necessary designation, that's what 

they are doing, and it is -- I shouldn't say necessary designation, it's a necessary operation.  I think this is 

a good program.  I am concerned that we are forcing people to avoid using the term halfway house, 

when that's what they're doing.  And so that may be something we need to look at as we continue to add 

to our list of Code adjustments, because I don't necessarily have a problem with what they're doing.  My 

issue is it appears that they have had to bend over backwards to avoid having to ask for a CUP, and the 

City has been finding ways to get the definitions to work when it is clear to me that they are providing a 

necessary service of transitional housing.  And -- and they are not just a drug treatment program.  Those 

are different things.  So I'm -- I'm concerned about that, that maybe a larger Code adjustment.  I also 

just want to make sure that all the i's and t's have been taken care of on what they’re currently doing, 

because regardless of what happens tonight, there could be a property that's -- needs to be looked at,  

but -- Commissioner Loe? 

 MS. LOE:  Thank you.  You just hit on a couple of the comments or points -- no, we're thinking 

along the same lines.  Just a couple additions to that.  It sounded to me as if the applicant is considered 

to be a group home under a different state or county agency's classification.  However, reading our 

zoning definitions, while it does include the requirement or the allowance for disabled or handicapped, 

and that does apply in some cases, to my mind, halfway house, where this is a facility for persons who 

have been institutionalized and released, giving temporary protection of a group setting to facilitate 

transition to society, this is how we've been discussing the facility that's been brought to us this evening.  

So I -- and we treat these two very differently in the zoning code.  So if they were treated the same, this 

would be semantics, but we don't.  So I think we need to align our definitions if that's part of the reason 

there's confusion here, and I agree if there's -- if we're avoiding calling something, let's look at what we're 

really trying to achieve.  I'm having a hard time processing this case because I feel it hasn't -- it's not as 

clear as it's been presented.  Thank you.   

 MS. GEUEA JONES:  Anyone else?  Commissioner MacMann? 

 MR. MACMANN:  Ways forward, I'm a no on this for the reasons I stated previously.  However, I 

would entertain the concept of tabling this to date certain to have some of your all's questions answered.  

Is there a CUP?  Does it need a CUP?  I mean, these are serious questions.  My best recollection, the 
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laundry was the key so we could go to next steps, and then the resolution of the other issues were 

afterwards, and I think it was done at a managerial level, but it never came back to us.  That's what I 

know. 

 MR. ZENNER:  And I believe the interpretation of the Code and the application of the terms 

within the Code, is left to the discretion of the director.  And so the director has made a call as it relates 

to how this property to the east was classified.  The definition clearly includes this.  While this is 

uncomfortable for the Commission, and I can appreciate that based upon the conflicting definition of a 

halfway house, the reality is is this does not, based on the past practice that we have followed for a 

similar use, require a conditional use.  And that, I mean, if asked the question, does this qualify as a 

large group home, the director has no incentive to say no.  He has every reason to say, well, that's how 

we've applied the standard to the property immediately next door operated by the same entity.  I think the 

concern that we have potentially, and this is a much broader issue, is how we are treating this particular 

class of individual, and that becomes a real concern when we look at the land-use appropriateness of 

how the individuals that will occupy this space are occupying the space.  And I think the definition of a 

halfway house is very critical and very judgmental as it relates to people that are coming out of 

institutionalized settings that were through the penal system.  For Council to be presented with every 

request of this nature to have to make that judgment decision probably creates a serious amount of angst 

at that level.  And so when we look at how do we address the issue, how have we addressed the issue 

with group home settings for a variety of different ailments, this is the decision that we've made.  And I 

am not at all objecting to the idea that we need to go back, and we need to figure out how do we align, 

how do we potentially identify use-specific standards that would be appropriate to provide the levels of 

protection that are needed.  That, unfortunately, does not exist at this point, so what we are left with from 

an analysis perspective if -- even if I'm not going to be asked, is you have to look at -- you have to look at 

how does this ultimate use, if it was a multi-family building, regardless of how it is occupied, is a multi-

family building on these two R-2 lots inappropriate or appropriate?  How we deal with addressing the 

other issues of the type of occupants within those buildings, we have to work with the applicant, and we 

have to make sure that the applicant is cognizant of the concerns of the surrounding property owners, 

and mitigates them to the extent possible.   

 MS. THOMPSON:  And not -- and just to put out there, not ruling out the possibility that that they 

may not have to come forward with the CUP and alternate determination is made.  But regardless, they 

would still need the rezoning to R-MF. 

 MS. GEUEA JONES:  Commissioner Wilson? 

 MS. WILSON:  I don't know that I have heard this evening that this is an issue of the quality of 

person.  It seems to be an issue of the quantity of people.  So for me, also, in addition to the quantity, it 

is a lack of diversity of planning and thought with the neighborhood that is at issue for me.  When we 

open ourselves up to diversity of thought, we get new thoughts.  We get new ways of doing things.  You 
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are surprised about what people can offer you when you ask them the question what would you like?  

And so that's my issue.  I'm not as versed in the regulations as my other Commissioners, so I don't 

really, you know, have that issue.  My issue really more so is did you ask them what they wanted in the 

neighborhood, and at what point do we just have too much of a saturation of individuals.  So that's for me 

why I'm going to vote no.   

 MS. GEUEA JONES:  Other -- Commissioner MacMann?   

 MR. MACMANN:  Madam Chair, I have a motion.  Are we there? 

 MS. GEUEA JONES:  Are we there?  I believe we are -- we are there. 

 MR. MACMANN:  In the matter of the rezoning of 2501 and 2505 Eastwood Drive, case number 

58-2024, I move in the affirmative to approve.   

 MS. LOE:  Second. 

 MS. GEUEA JONES:  We have a motion from Commissioner MacMann on approval of the 

rezoning, and a second from Commissioner Loe.  Any discussion on the motion?  I just want to make 

one quick clarifying comment for my vote.  I am concerned about what I see as a lapse in the Code.  

That has nothing to do with how I am voting on this case.  This case is not about the Code, it's not about 

designating things.  It's not about a CUP.  This is about whether multi-family zoning fits in this particular 

location.  That's what I'm taking into consideration.  However, my thought is out there about the other, 

and I agree completely with what I think Planner Zenner was trying to say, and I'm going to say it a little 

less diplomatically because I can.  There is stigma attached to the term halfway house.  There is.  It's a 

problem because we need them.  And we've got to find a way to make sure that our Code doesn't 

mislead people, but also does not put people in a position where they cannot provide a service because 

of those stigmas.  So I look forward to working on that, that issue, separate and apart from my feelings 

about the zoning.  Just want to be clear.  Thank you.  Commissioner MacMann? 

 MR. MACMANN:  One last comment before we vote.  In reference to my earlier concept --

comment about spreading these throughout the community, and you spoke of the stigma.  And you guys 

know I travel all over, and in town, block by block by block.  I'm not going to use the term halfway or 

group, because I don't know what they are called.  I don't know how they're licensed.  I know where two 

are in heavy neighborhoods.  Four, five, and six, most of the neighbors don't even know they're there 

because it's not a problem.  And it is not, in my view, I think excellent work can -- can be done and is 

being done by having these spread out within the community to help everyone is a good thing.  I'll shut 

up now and we can vote.   

 MS. GEUEA JONES:  Any further discussion?  Commissioner Loe? 

 Roll Call Vote (Voting "yes" is to recommend approval.)  Voting No:  Mr. MacMann,  

Ms. Geuea Jones, Ms. Placier, Mr. Ford, Ms. Wilson, Ms. Loe.  Motion fails 6-0. 

 MS. LOE:  That's seven nos.  The motion does -- fails.   

 MS. GEUEA JONES:  That recommendation will be -- did you say six? 
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 MS. LOE:  Oh, six.  Sorry.  I keep forgetting we lost -- 

 MS. GEUEA JONES:  With a vote of six nos, that recommendation will be forwarded to City 

Council. 

 MR. ZENNER:  And it will be on old business. 

 MS. GEUEA JONES:  And it will be on old business, which means it will have a separate hearing 

where comments can also be taken in there.  Thank you. 

VIII.  PUBLIC COMMENTS 

 MS. GEUEA JONES:  Moving on to general public comments.  Are there any general public 

comments for the evening?   

MR. JACKSON:  (Inaudible). 

MS. GEUEA JONES:  We were asked if we would be notified of the next meeting.  I am not sure 

if public -- if postcards and such get sent out again for City Council, no.  But if you'll give us just a 

moment, Planner Zenner may be able to tell you when to anticipate watching the agenda of City Council.   

 MR. ZENNER:  The item will be introduced on the February 19th agenda.  That is an 

introduction only, so it's just the title.  The actual public hearing, since it will be under old business, will be 

on March 4th, 7:00 p.m., this same room. 

 MS. GEUEA JONES:  There you go.  Any other comments from the public?  Seeing none. 

IX. STAFF COMMENTS 

 MS. GEUEA JONES:  Staff comments, Mr. Zenner. 

 MR. ZENNER:  Yes.  I'll try to keep this quick since we're late this evening.  Your next meeting 

is February 8th.  We do have a number of items that will be on that agenda, and due to our running short 

within our work session, an agenda item that was on our work session agenda was Council assignments.  

On Tuesday night at the Council meeting, the Planning and Zoning Commission was requested by 

Council to take up amendments to the ADU ordinance.  There are three specific amendments that Ms. 

Adrian Stolwyk, who presented and was present at one of our Planning Commissioner meetings earlier 

this year had asked, so we are looking at three very specific amendments that's changing the regulations 

prohibiting a front door, a secondary front door for being able to face the public street.  It is reducing or 

eliminating the minimum lot size and lot frontage requirement of a 5,000 square lot and a 50-foot lot 

frontage.  That would be replaced -- it will be proposed to be replaced with just the standard now that we 

are allowing minimum 30-foot lot, and 3,000 square feet.  You have to have a legal lot, in essence, is 

what it will be.  And the third amendment is escaping my mind right now, but we have a third 

amendment.  Those are the ones that we were asked to take up.  I will be willing to entertain from the 

Commission when we sit down to give the overview of the changes specifically.  If the Commissioner is 

interested in considering other amendments, we can triage those to determine which are probably easy to 

make and which may require a little bit more elaborate discussion.  It is my belief that Council would like 

this amendment back as quickly as possible given the belief that our regulations are the impediment to 
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why ADUs are not being built, and making these minimal changes which are, in staff's opinion, 

inconsequential, may provide greater opportunity to be able to allow them to be constructed.  We will see 

that, and I don't believe that that is a too significant interruption to what we're working on right now.  We 

will come back with some changes, as well, at the work session, provided I can get to them, as it relates 

to tonight's discussion to provide some additional tweaking to what we were looking at for the small lot 

integration work that we're working on right now in the R-1, R-2, and R-MF.  I believe we are very close 

on the dimensional side of this, and once we get that nailed down, we can move on to the other 

information.  So that's your work session agenda for the February 8th agenda.  And then for the 

February 8th Planning and Zoning Commission meeting, this looks like a very, very long laundry list.  

However, you will notice in the center section, we've got two-fers, both rezoning and preliminary plat 

related matters, and this list is a lot longer than it actually will be.  The first project that I -- well, actually, 

we don't have any subdivisions, because I know the first two projects under subdivisions when the 

agenda was prepared have been put on hold.  So we don't have any subdivisions specifically by 

themselves.  Then under the public hearings and subdivisions, the only two that are proposed to go at 

this point, given the last two are under a hold condition, as well, are 2000 Allen Lane.  This is off of 

Vandiver just east of Rangeline, a rezoning request from R-1 and M-N, to R-MF and M-C.  This is a 

parcel that is tucked behind a commercial development and to the east of a used car sales lot.  And then 

the preliminary plat is proposing a five-lot preliminary plat, if I recall correctly, with a new public street 

connection.  For context purposes, so Vandiver is on the south of this project site.  It has a stem that 

actually leads to the bulk of the property.  To the north of the property is actually Elleta Boulevard, which 

is the Columbia Housing Authority property running along the northern boundary of the site.  So when it 

comes in, Mr. Palmer is going to be handling that, and will be able to give you a little bit better description 

of what's going on.  The frontage along Vandiver is zoned M-C, and that is what is being -- or is M-N, and 

therefore, they're looking at having that property immediately to the east of it is M-C, if I recall correctly, 

and they're looking at having the M-N that's on this subject site rezoned to be comparable with it.  The 

last two cases are scheduled to move forward, 5424 is a permanent zoning request off of South Olivette.  

This is immediately to the east of Old Hawthorn at Turner Farm Road, so Turner Farm and Olivette.  This 

property is immediately to the west of that intersection, and it goes back to the Old Hawthorn 

development where it actually has a stub street that comes out of Old Hawthorn to tie into this 60-acre 

parcel of land.  And then the last project, 6924, is a rezoning request to property that is directly to the 

west of Oak Towers at the corner of Garth and Sexton.  This is just north of Central Latino, vacant lot, 

three vacant lots on the very north of the property adjacent to the City's property, where we have storm 

water improvements just to the east of our Garth Cottages Project, our first cottage project development 

that the City did.  So your maps, Parkside and Veterans United, those are both not going to go.  And 

then our Allen Lane property, which is going under our joined subdivision and public hearing, then our 

ones down on the south end of town are not going.  These will be coming up at a later date.  We're 
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waiting on traffic studies for the two that are around VU campus before we can actually bring them 

forward to you.  The permanent zoning there off of Olivette, and you will notice immediately on the west 

boundary of that, that is Old Hawthorn.  And then our property here at Sexton and Garth.  This is -

currently planned zoned property.  It is being proposed to be rezoned M-OF.  And then there is a 

concurrent replat that will go directly to City Council to consolidate the five lots that make up this parcel at 

this point from a zoning perspective.  With that, those are all your cases for the February 8th meeting.  

I'm hoping that we're going to have a break here at some point, but as we continue to push stuff to 

agendas, we continue to seem to carry a load every meeting, so come prepared and we may have coffee, 

I don't know.  That's all I've got.   

 MS. GEUEA JONES:  Make empty promises.   

X. COMMISSIONER COMMENTS 

 MS. GEUEA JONES:  Any Commissioner comments for the evening?  Commissioner 

MacMann? 

 MR. MACMANN:  I have one comment and then I have a motion.  Mr. Zenner, I would like you 

to thank David for the work he did on the small lots.  That made -- that got a lot of BS out of the way 

that's going to make it easier.  How about that?   

 MR. ZENNER:  Now, are you talking about his graphic, or are you talking about the 

presentation?   

 MR. MACMANN:  The whole thing.   

 MR. ZENNER:  Okay. 

 MR. MACMANN:  It's easier to present and understand, and that goes so far into making the 

political the possible.   

 MR. ZENNER:  I will pass that message along to him, and I thank you very much for your 

compliments.   

 MS. GEUEA JONES: I would -- I think that the same compliment should probably be paid to 

Planner Zenner, who did a bulk of that work, too.   

 MR. ZENNER:  I will say, and -- 

MR. PALMER:  Hey, I participated, too.   

 MR. ZENNER:  He participated -- 

MS. GEUEA JONES:  And Rusty. 

MR. ZENNER:  And Rusty told David, I don't know what you're trying to produce here. 

 MR. PALMER:  Pretty much. 

 MR. ZENNER:  And I told David let me look at it.  I will say this much.  David, as an addition to 

our staff, David's, the way that he thinks and the way that he uses numbers is very helpful, and what was 

very beneficial for me was the work that he put in.  To simplify, I needed to take all of his work, and I 

needed to put it in what I thought would be what you all would understand.  He is a great asset. 
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 MR. MACMANN:   You all done good.   

 MR. PALMER:  There's a beautiful mind over in that cubicle.   

 MS. GEUEA JONES:  Very good.  Are there any other Commissioner comments, or are we 

ready for a motion? 

XI. ADJOURNMENT 

 MR. MACMANN:  Move to adjourn. 

 MS. LOE:  Second. 

 MS. GEUEA JONES:  Adjournment moved by Commissioner MacMann, seconded by 

Commissioner Loe.  Without objection, we stand adjourned. 

 (The meeting adjourned at 10:16 p.m.)  

 (Off the record.) 


